ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES INC Form 424B5 June 21, 2004

OuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT (To Prospectus Dated June 10, 2002)

5,000,000 Shares

# Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. 8.375% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (Liquidation Preference \$25.00 Per Share)

We are offering 5,000,000 shares of our 8.375% Series C cumulative redeemable preferred stock, or Series C Preferred Stock. We will receive all of the net proceeds from the sale of the Series C Preferred Stock.

We will pay cumulative dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock, from the date of original issuance, in the amount of \$2.09375 per share each year, which is equivalent to 8.375% of the \$25.00 liquidation preference per share. Dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock will be payable quarterly in arrears, beginning on October 15, 2004. We may not redeem the Series C Preferred Stock before June 29, 2009, except in order to preserve our status as a real estate investment trust. On and after June 29, 2009, we may, at our option, redeem the Series C Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, by paying \$25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated maturity, will not be subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption and is not convertible into any of our other securities. Investors in the Series C Preferred Stock will not have general voting rights, but will have limited voting rights if we fail to pay dividends for six or more quarters or as required by law.

We have applied to list the Series C Preferred Stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "ARE PrC." If approved, we expect trading of the Series C Preferred Stock on the New York Stock Exchange to commence within 30 days after it is first issued.

Investing in the Series C Preferred Stock involves certain risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2 of the accompanying prospectus.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

P	er Share		Total
\$ \$ \$	25.00 0.7875 24.2125	\$ \$ \$	125,000,000 3,937,500 121,062,500
	\$ \$ \$ \$		\$ 25.00 \$ \$ 0.7875 \$

(1)

We have granted the underwriters an option to purchase within 30 days from the date of this prospectus supplement up to an additional 750,000 shares of the Series C Preferred Stock at the public offering price per share, less the underwriting discounts and commissions, to cover over-allotments.

The underwriters expect that the shares of Series C Preferred Stock will be ready for delivery in book-entry form through The Depository Trust Company on or about June 29, 2004.

Joint Book-Running Managers

Citigroup
Advest, Inc.

UBS Investment Bank
Crowell, Weedon & Co.

WR Hambrecht + Co

A.G. Edwards

June 18, 2004

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus. Neither we nor the underwriters have authorized anyone to provide you with any different information. Neither we nor the underwriters are offering to sell the securities, or seeking offers to buy the securities, in any jurisdiction where offers or sales are not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference is accurate only as of its respective date or on the date which is specified in those documents. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since any such date.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prospectus Supplement	
Forward-Looking Statements	ii
Prospectus Supplement Summary	S-1
Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc.	S-6
Properties Properties	S-11
Use of Proceeds	S-16
Capitalization	S-17
Selected Financial Data	S-18
Ratios of Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends	S-21
Description of Series C Preferred Stock	S-22
Federal Income Tax Considerations	S-29
Underwriting	S-32
Legal matters	S-35
Experts	S-35
Prospectus	
Additional Information	ii
Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference	ii
The Company	1
Risk Factors	2
Use of Proceeds	14
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends	14
Description of Capital Stock	15
Warrants	20
Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws	21
Federal Income Tax Considerations	24
Plan of Distribution	34
Legal Matters	35
Experts	35
i	

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus contain or incorporate by reference forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. You can identify the forward-looking statements by their use of forward-looking words, such as "believes," "expects," "may," "will," "should," "seeks," "intends," "plans," "estimates" or "anticipates," or the negative of those words or similar words. Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties regarding events, conditions and financial trends that may affect our future plans of operation, business strategy, results of operations and financial position. A number of important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those included within or contemplated by such forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, our lack of industry diversification, our dependence on tenants in the life science industry, our rapid growth, our lack of geographic diversification and other considerations related to real estate financing, acquisition, redevelopment and development. For a discussion of these and other factors that could cause actual results to differ from those contemplated in the forward-looking statements, please see the discussion under "Risk Factors" contained in the accompanying prospectus and the other information contained in our publicly available filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003. We do not undertake any responsibility to update any of these factors or to announce publicly any revisions to forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

#### PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

The following summary may not contain all of the information that is important to you. You should read this entire prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference into the accompanying prospectus carefully before deciding whether to invest in the Series C Preferred Stock. In this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, unless otherwise indicated, the "company," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. Unless otherwise indicated, the information in this prospectus supplement assumes that the underwriters do not exercise the over-allotment option described in "Underwriting."

#### Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc.

#### Overview

We are a publicly-traded real estate investment trust, or REIT, focused primarily on the ownership, operation, management, acquisition, expansion and selective redevelopment and development of high quality, strategically located life science properties designed and improved for lease principally to tenants in the life science industry, including pharmaceutical, biotechnology, life science product and service companies, not-for-profit scientific research institutions, universities and related government agencies. Our life science properties leased to tenants in the life science industry typically consist of buildings containing scientific research and development laboratories and other improvements that are generic to tenants operating in the life science industry.

At March 31, 2004:

we owned 89 properties, containing approximately 5.7 million rentable square feet of office and laboratory space;

our properties were located in leading markets in the United States for the life science industry, including the San Diego, Pasadena and San Francisco Bay areas of California; Seattle, Washington; suburban Washington D.C. (including Maryland and Virginia); eastern Massachusetts; New Jersey and suburban Philadelphia; and the Southeast (including North Carolina and Georgia);

our properties, excluding 13 properties in our redevelopment program containing approximately 894,000 square feet (of which approximately 496,000 square feet were under redevelopment and 398,000 square feet were leased), were approximately 93.2% leased at an average annualized net effective rent per leased square foot of \$24.04, with a significant portion of the vacant space at our properties being office or warehouse space;

we had 209 leases with 177 tenants, with our largest single tenant, ZymoGenetics, Inc., accounting for 5.6% of our annualized net effective rent; and

approximately 88% of our leases (on a square footage basis) were triple net leases, requiring tenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes and insurance, common area and other operating expenses (including increases thereto) in addition to base rent, and, in addition to our triple net leases, approximately 7% of our leases (on a square footage basis) required the tenants to pay a majority of operating expenses.

#### **Business Strategy**

We seek to maximize growth in funds from operations, or FFO, and cash available for distribution to stockholders through ownership, operation, management, acquisition, expansion and selective redevelopment and development of life science properties. In particular, we seek to increase FFO and cash available for distribution by:

acquiring high quality life science properties in our life science markets at prices that will enable us to realize attractive returns;

redeveloping or expanding existing or newly acquired office, warehouse or vacant space into generic laboratory space that can be leased at higher rental rates;

selectively developing properties, primarily on a build-to-suit basis;

retenanting and releasing space within our portfolio at higher rental rates and with minimal non-revenue enhancing tenant improvement costs;

realizing contractual rental rate escalations, which are currently provided for in approximately 94% of our leases;

leasing vacant space to improve overall portfolio occupancy;

implementing effective cost control measures, including negotiating pass-through provisions in tenant leases for operating expenses and certain capital expenditures; and

managing the level of debt on our balance sheet and our exposure to floating rate debt.

#### **Recent Developments**

### **Operating Results**

For the first quarter of 2004, we reported FFO of \$21,469,000, or \$1.10 per share (diluted), on total revenues of \$42,775,000, compared to FFO of \$19,840,000, or \$1.04 per share (diluted), on total revenues of \$40,039,000 for the first quarter of 2003. Comparing the first quarter of 2004 to the first quarter of 2003, total revenues increased 7%, FFO increased 8% and FFO per share (diluted) increased 6%. Net income available to common stockholders for the first quarter of 2004 was \$13,115,000, or 67 cents per share (diluted), compared to net income available to common stockholders of \$9,924,000, or 52 cents per share (diluted), for the first quarter of 2003. Net income for the first quarter of 2004 includes a gain on sale of property aggregating \$1,627,000, while net income for the first quarter of 2003 includes a loss on sale of property aggregating \$455,000. FFO is a non-GAAP measure widely used by publicly-traded real estate investment trusts. See "Selected Financial Data" for a summary of operating results for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, as well as for a description of FFO and a reconciliation of FFO to the most directly comparable GAAP measure.

#### Redemption of Series A Preferred Stock

On June 3, 2004, we called for redemption all of our issued and outstanding Series A Preferred Stock. The redemption will occur on July 7, 2004 and the source of funds for the redemption will be the net proceeds to us from this offering.

#### Quarterly Dividends

On March 16, 2004, our board of directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.60 per share for shares of our common stock for the first quarter of 2004. The dividend was paid on April 15, 2004 to stockholders of record on April 2, 2004. Our board of directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.59375 per share for shares of our 9.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, or Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock dividend was paid on April 15, 2004 to Series A Preferred Stock holders of record on April 2, 2004. Our board of directors also authorized a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.56875 per share for shares of our 9.10% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, or Series B Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock dividend was paid on April 15, 2004 to Series B Preferred Stock holders of record on April 2, 2004.

On June 18, 2004, our board of directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.62 per share for shares of our common stock for the second quarter of 2004. The dividend is payable on July 15, 2004 to stockholders of record on July 2, 2004. Our board of directors also declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.56875 per share for shares of our Series B Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock dividend is payable on July 15, 2004 to Series B Preferred Stock holders of record on July 2, 2004.

## Our Series C Preferred Stock Offering

Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc.
5,000,000 shares of 8.375% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (5,750,000 shares if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full).
The Series C Preferred Stock, with respect to the payment of dividends and amounts in the event of our liquidation, will rank senior to our common stock and on a parity with our Series A Preferred Stock (which will be redeemed on July 7, 2004), Series B Preferred Stock and any other parity securities we may issue in the future. Our common stock, Series A Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock are our only other currently outstanding equity securities. See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Rank," " Dividends" and " Liquidation Preference."
We will use the net proceeds from this offering to redeem our outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock and to reduce the outstanding balance on our \$440 million unsecured line of credit. We may from time to time borrow under the line of credit to provide funds for general working capital and other corporate purposes, including the acquisition of additional life science properties and the redevelopment or development of existing or new properties. See "Use of Proceeds."
Dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date the stock is originally issued. Dividends will be payable quarterly in arrears on the fifteenth day of January, April, July and October of each year or, if any such day is not a business day, then on the next succeeding business day, at the fixed rate of \$2.09375 per share each year, which is equivalent to 8.375% of the \$25.00 liquidation preference. The first dividend will be payable on October 15, 2004. Dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock will continue to accumulate even if any of our agreements prohibits the current payment of dividends, we do not have earnings or funds legally available to pay such dividends or we do not declare the payment of dividends. See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Dividends."
You will be entitled to receive \$25.00 for each share of the Series C Preferred Stock, plus an amount equal to all accrued and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) if we liquidate, subject to the rights of creditors and any future senior security holders. See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference."

Optional Redemption	We may not redeem the Series C Preferred Stock before June 29, 2009, except in order to preserve our status as a REIT. On and after that date, we may, at our option, redeem the Series C Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time by paying \$25.00 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends (whether or not declared) to the date we fix for redemption.
Voting Rights	The holders of the Series C Preferred Stock will not have general voting rights. If dividends on shares of the Series C Preferred Stock are in arrears for six or more quarterly periods, whether consecutive or not, the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock and the holders of all other shares of any class or series of capital stock ranking on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock and having like voting rights (voting together as a single voting group) will be entitled to vote for the election of a total of two additional directors to serve on our board of directors until all unpaid dividends have been fully paid or declared and set aside for payment. Additionally, we will not be permitted under the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock to create a class or series of capital stock ranking senior to the Series C Preferred Stock or make changes to the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock that would be materially adverse to the rights of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock in specified respects without the affirmative vote of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Series C Preferred Stock and the shares of any other similarly affected series of preferred stock ranking on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock and having like voting rights (voting together as a single voting group). See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Voting Rights."
No Conversion	The Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into or exchangeable for any of our other property or securities, except that shares of the Series C Preferred Stock may be converted into our "excess stock" in order to ensure that we remain a qualified REIT for federal income tax purposes. See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer."
Restrictions on Ownership	In order to ensure that we remain a qualified REIT for federal income tax purposes, no single holder of our capital stock may own more than 9.8% of the total value of outstanding shares of our stock. See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer."
Maturity	The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and will not be subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption, except as required by our charter. See "Description of Series C Preferred Stock Maturity" and "Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer."
	S-4

Listing	We have applied to list the Series C Preferred Stock on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "ARE PrC." If approved, we expect that trading on the New York Stock Exchange will commence within 30 days after the Series C Preferred Stock is first issued.
Form	The Series C Preferred Stock will be issued and maintained in book-entry form registered in the name of the nominee of The Depository Trust Company.  S-5

### ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES, INC.

#### General

We are a Maryland corporation formed in October 1994 that has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 1996. We are engaged primarily in the ownership, operation, management, acquisition, expansion and selective redevelopment and development of high quality, strategically located life science properties designed and improved for lease principally to tenants in the life science industry, including pharmaceutical, biotechnology, life science product and service companies, not-for-profit scientific research institutions, universities and related government agencies. Our properties leased to tenants in the life science industry typically consist of buildings containing scientific research and development laboratories and other improvements that are generic to tenants operating in the life science industry.

We have achieved significant growth since the completion of our initial public offering in June 1997. From June 30, 1997 through March 31, 2004, we have achieved the following:

- an increase in our portfolio of properties from 15 properties with approximately 1.5 million rentable square feet of space to 89 properties with approximately 5.7 million rentable square feet of space;
- a 29.2% compound annual growth rate in total assets, from \$230 million to \$1.3 billion;
- a 32.5% compound annual growth rate in total market capitalization, from \$305 million to \$2.0 billion;
- a 23.5% compound annual growth rate in FFO, from \$5.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 1997 to \$21.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004;
- a 14.0% compound annual growth rate in FFO per share (on a diluted basis), from \$0.47 per share for the three months ended September 30, 1997, to \$1.10 per share for the three months ended March 31, 2004; and
- a 24.3% compound annual investment return (assumes reinvestment of dividends).

The following graph shows our growth in quarterly FFO per share (on a diluted basis) since our first full quarter as a public company.

#### **Business and Growth Strategy**

We focus our property operations and investment activities primarily in the following life science markets:

California (in the San Diego, Pasadena and San Francisco Bay areas);

Seattle, Washington;

suburban Washington D.C. (including Maryland and Virginia);

eastern Massachusetts;

New Jersey and suburban Philadelphia; and

the Southeast (including North Carolina and Georgia).

Each of these areas is an important market in the United States for the life science industry. To facilitate research and development, technology transfer and recruitment of scientific professionals, life science industry companies generally cluster near major scientific research institutions, universities and government agencies, all of which drive demand for life science properties suitable for such tenants. As a result, we focus our operations and acquisition activities principally in a limited number of target markets where we believe life science industry tenants tend to cluster.

The multibillion dollar life science industry comprises some of the most stable and growing segments of the U.S. economy and includes thousands of public and private companies and scientific research institutions engaged principally in the research, development, testing, manufacture, sale and regulation of pharmaceuticals, medical devices, laboratory instrumentation and other related applications. Properties leased to tenants in the life science industry typically consist of buildings containing scientific research and development laboratories and other improvements that are generic to tenants operating in the life science industry. Unlike traditional office space, the location of and improvements to life science properties are generally considered essential to a tenant's business. We believe that, as a result of these factors, occupancy levels in life science properties within our target life science markets generally have been higher, and tenant turnover has been lower, than in traditional office properties.

We are led by a senior management team with extensive experience in both the real estate and life science industries and are supported by a highly experienced board of directors. Our board of directors is led by Jerry M. Sudarsky, our Chairman of the Board, who has founded and been responsible for the growth of several companies in a variety of industries, including in the biotechnology, chemical and construction industries. Our management team includes Joel S. Marcus, our Chief Executive Officer, who has over 31 years of experience in the real estate and life science industries, as well as significant capital markets experience; James H. Richardson, our President, who has over 21 years of experience in the real estate industry, and has specialized for much of his career in the acquisition, management and leasing of life science properties; Peter J. Nelson, our Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary who has over 21 years of experience in finance, accounting and real estate asset management and leasing; Vincent R. Ciruzzi, our Senior Vice President of Construction and Development and who has over 15 years of experience in development, real estate construction and project management.

In March 2004, Mr. Nelson informed us that he would be stepping down from his full-time duties and responsibilities as Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary, for important personal family reasons, effective October 20, 2004. Mr. Nelson intends to continue to work with us in the capacity of an independent consultant through at least April 30, 2007.

We believe that we have achieved favorable returns on our life science properties as a result of:

the continued demand by tenants for life science properties;

the constrained supply and lack of speculative development of life science properties due, in part, to the expertise generally required to develop and manage this property type and the high barriers to entry life science markets;

the highly fragmented and inefficient market for ownership of life science properties;

our adherence to strict evaluation criteria and due diligence reviews when assessing prospective properties and tenants; and

our unique knowledge and understanding of both the life science industry and its tenants and the real estate industry.

Additionally, we believe that the personal and business relationships that our management team and members of our board of directors have developed over time within the real estate and life science industries have contributed significantly to our ability to identify and consummate favorable acquisitions, redevelopments and developments, and to lease space to targeted high quality life science industry tenants. We believe that we are the only publicly traded entity focusing primarily on the ownership, operation, management, acquisition, expansion and selective redevelopment and development of life science properties.

We seek to maximize growth in FFO and cash available for distribution to stockholders through ownership, operation, management, acquisition, expansion and selective redevelopment and development of life science properties, as well as management of our balance sheet. In particular, we seek to increase the FFO and cash available for distribution by:

acquiring high quality life science properties at prices that enable us to realize attractive returns;

expanding existing or newly acquired properties or redeveloping existing office, warehouse or vacant space into generic laboratory space that can be leased at higher rental rates in our target life science markets;

selectively developing properties on a build-to-suit basis;

retenanting and releasing space within our portfolio at higher rates and with minimum non-revenue enhancing tenant improvement costs;

realizing contractual rental rate escalations, which are currently provided for in approximately 94% of our leases;

implementing effective cost control measures, including negotiating pass-through provisions in tenant leases for operating expenses and certain capital expenditures; and

managing the level of debt on our balance sheet and our exposure to floating rate debt.

## Acquisitions

We seek to identify and acquire high quality life science properties in our target life science markets. Critical evaluation of prospective property acquisitions is an essential component of our acquisition strategy. When evaluating acquisition opportunities, we assess a full range of matters relating to the properties, including:

location of the property and our strategy in the relevant market;
quality of existing and prospective tenants;

condition and capacity of the building infrastructure;

quality and generic characteristics of laboratory facilities;

physical condition of the vacant structure and common area improvements;

opportunities available for leasing vacant space and for retenanting occupied space;

opportunities to redevelop existing office space into higher rent generic laboratory space; and

opportunities to expand the existing property.

### Redevelopment

We seek to enhance our growth by redeveloping existing office, warehouse or vacant space as generic laboratory space that can be leased at higher rates. As of March 31, 2004, we had 13 properties in our redevelopment program that contained a total of approximately 894,000 square feet. Of this total, approximately 496,000 square feet are under redevelopment and currently vacant, and the remaining 398,000 square feet are currently leased. We have also identified approximately 411,000 square feet of additional space in our existing portfolio for potential redevelopment.

Due to the fact that space undergoing redevelopment is vacant, our redevelopment program has the effect of currently reducing rental revenue and FFO. Despite our ongoing redevelopment activities, we have achieved consistent growth in FFO. See "Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. General."

#### **Development**

Our development strategy is primarily to pursue selective build-to-suit projects where we expect to achieve investment returns that will equal or exceed our returns on acquisitions. We generally have undertaken build-to-suit projects only if our investment in infrastructure will be substantially made for generic, rather than tenant specific, improvements. On occasion, we also develop properties in certain life science markets before we have leases in place. As of March 31, 2004, we owned parcels of land and may expand existing properties, representing an aggregate future development potential of approximately 1,387,000 rentable square feet of office/laboratory properties.

### **Internal Growth**

We seek to achieve internal growth from several sources. For example, we seek to:

include rental rate escalation provisions in our leases;

improve investment returns through leasing of vacant space and replacement of existing tenants with new tenants at higher rental rates;

achieve higher rental rates from existing tenants as existing leases expire;

lease vacant space to improve overall portfolio occupancy;

expand existing properties that are fully leased and/or redevelop existing or newly acquired space to higher rent, generic laboratory space; and

implement effective cost control measures, including negotiating pass-through provisions in tenant leases for operating expenses and certain capital expenditures.

Our ability to negotiate contractual rent escalations in future leases and to achieve increases in rental rates will depend upon market conditions and the demand for life science properties at the time the leases are negotiated and the increases are proposed.

## **Financing and Working Capital**

We believe that cash provided by operations and our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan will be sufficient to fund our working capital requirements. We generally expect to finance future acquisitions and redevelopment and development projects through our unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan and, then, to refinance some or all of that indebtedness periodically with additional equity or debt capital. We may also issue shares of our common stock, preferred stock or interests in our subsidiaries to fund future operations.

We seek to maintain a balance between the amounts of our fixed and variable rate debt with a view to moderating our exposure to interest rate risk. We also use financial instruments, such as interest rate swap agreements, to hedge a portion of our exposure to the variable interest rates associated with our \$440 million unsecured line of credit and our \$150 million unsecured term loan. Interest rate swap agreements involve an exchange of fixed and floating interest payments without the exchange of the underlying principal or "notional amount." Interest received under our current interest rate swap agreements is based on the one-month London interbank offered rate, or LIBOR.

#### **PROPERTIES**

#### General

As of March 31, 2004, we owned 89 properties comprising approximately 5.7 million rentable square feet of office and laboratory space. Excluding properties under redevelopment, our properties were 93.2% leased as of March 31, 2004. Our properties range in size from approximately 15,000 to 250,000 square feet, are built to accommodate single or multiple tenants and are generally one or two story concrete tilt-up, block and/or steel frame structures. The exteriors typically resemble traditional office properties, but the interior infrastructures are designed to accommodate the needs of life science industry tenants. These improvements typically are generic to life science industry tenants rather than being specific to a particular tenant. As a result, we believe that the improvements have long-term value and utility and are usable by a wide range of life science industry tenants. Generic infrastructure improvements to our life science properties typically include:

reinforced concrete floors;
upgraded roof loading capacity;
increased floor to ceiling heights;
heavy-duty HVAC systems;
enhanced environmental control technology;
significantly upgraded electrical, gas and plumbing infrastructure; and
laboratory benches.
simple interest in each of our properties, except for the following nine properties that account for approximately 12% of

We own a fee simple interest in each of our properties, except for the following nine properties that account for approximately 12% of the total rentable square footage of our properties:

three properties in the San Francisco Bay area (Harbor Bay Parkway #2, Harbor Bay Parkway #3 and Harbor Bay Parkway #4), in which we own a commercial condominium interest, together with an undivided interest in the common areas of the project of which the property is a part; and

six properties at Garcia Avenue & Bayshore Parkway, Hanover Street, Alexander Road, Charlestown Navy Yard, Virginia Manor Road and Porter Drive, in which we own ground leasehold interests.

As of March 31, 2004, we had 209 leases with a total of 177 tenants and 48 of our 89 properties were single-tenant properties. Leases in our multi-tenant buildings typically have terms of three to seven years, while the single-tenant building leases typically have initial terms of 10 to 20 years. As of March 31, 2004:

approximately 88% of our leases (on a square footage basis) were triple net leases, requiring tenants to pay substantially all real estate taxes and insurance, common area and other operating expenses (including increases thereto) in addition to base rent, and, in addition to our triple net leases, approximately 7% of our leases (on a square footage basis) required the tenants to pay a majority of operating expenses;

approximately 94% of our leases (on a square footage basis) contained effective annual rent escalations that are either fixed (generally ranging from 3% to 3.5%) or indexed based on a consumer price index or other index; and

approximately 90% of our leases (on a square footage basis) provided for the recapture of certain capital expenditures (such as HVAC systems maintenance and/or replacement, roof

replacement and parking lot resurfacing), which we believe would typically be borne by the landlord in traditional office leases

Our leases also typically give us the right to review and approve tenant alterations to the property. Generally, tenant-installed improvements to the properties remain our property after termination of the lease at our election. However, we are permitted under the terms of most of our leases to require that the tenant remove the improvements and restore the premises to their original condition.

As of March 31, 2004, we managed all of our properties.

Our largest property (on an annualized base rent basis) represents 3.3% of our annualized portfolio base rent. As of March 31, 2004, the annualized net effective rent per leased square foot for properties in our portfolio ranged from \$10.65 to \$63.29, with a weighted average of \$23.87.

### **Location of Properties**

The locations of our properties are well diversified among a number of life science markets. The following table sets forth, as of March 31, 2004, the total rentable square footage, annualized base rent and annualized net effective rent of our properties in each of our existing markets.

Markets	Total Rentable Square Footage	Percentage of Total Rentable Square Footage	Annualized Base Rent (in thousands) (1)	Percentage of Annualized Base Rent	Annualized Net Effective Rent (in thousands) (2)	Percentage of Annualized Net Effective Rent
California Pasadena	31,343	0.7%\$	526	0.4%\$	459	0.4%
California San Diego	938,446	19.3	26,270	21.3	24,272	22.2%
California San Francisco Bay	642,578	13.2	19,918	16.1	18,340	16.8%
Eastern Massachusetts	640,317	13.2	21,929	17.8	18,377	16.8%
New Jersey/Suburban Philadelphia	267,319	5.5	5,352	4.3	4,237	3.9%
Southeast(3)	259,414	5.3	3,810	3.1	3,167	2.9%
Suburban Washington D.C.	1,526,856	31.6	26,084	21.2	22,318	20.3%
Seattle	543,780	11.2	19,458	15.8	18,313	16.7%
Total(4)	4,850,053	100.0%\$	123,347	100.0%\$	109,483	100.0%

- (1)
  Annualized base rent means the annualized fixed base rental amount in effect as of March 31, 2004 (using rental revenue computed on a straight-line basis in accordance with GAAP) paid by tenants under the terms of their leases.
- (2)
  Annualized net effective rent is the annualized base rent in effect as of March 31, 2004 (using rental revenue computed on a straight-line basis in accordance with GAAP), less (for gross leases) real estate taxes and insurance, common area and other operating expenses and (for all leases) amortization of tenant improvements and leasing commissions.
- (3) North Carolina and Georgia.
- (4) Excludes properties under full or partial redevelopment.

## **Life Science Sector Diversification**

Our tenant base is broad and diverse within the life science industry and reflects our focus on regional, national and international tenants with substantial financial and operational resources. The following chart shows the annualized net effective rent by tenant business type from our portfolio as of March 31, 2004:

### 20 Largest Tenants

Our life science properties are leased to a diverse group of tenants, with no tenant being responsible for more than 4.9% of our annualized base rent. The following table sets forth information regarding leases with our 20 largest tenants based upon annualized base rent as of March 31, 2004.

Tena	nnt	Number of Leases	Remaining Initial Lease Years	Approximate Aggregate Rentable Square Feet	Percentage of Aggregate Leased Square Feet	Annualized Base Rent (in thousands) (1)	Percentage of Aggregate Annualized Base Rent	Annualized Net Effective Rent (in thousands) (2)	Percentage of Aggregate Portfolio Net Effective Rent
1.	ZymoGenetics, Inc.	2	13.5	158,336	3.2%	6,553	4.9% \$	6,548	5.6%
2.	Theravance, Inc.	2	8.0	170,244	3.5	6,136	4.6	5,885	5.0
3.	Merck & Co., Inc.	3	6.5	166,007	3.4	4,452	3.4	4,203	3.6
4.	Quest Diagnostics Incorporated	1	12.8	248,186	5.0	4,341	3.3	4,340	3.7
5.	Infinity Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	2	8.8	60,482	1.2	4,302	3.2	3,469	3.0
6.	Telik, Inc.	1	10.2	91,644	1.9	3,491	2.6	3,389	2.9
7.	Corixa Corporation	3	1.8(3)	91,437	1.9	3,290	2.5	2,928	2.5
8.	Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center	2	9.9(4)	111,425	2.3	3,282	2.5	3,226	2.7
9.	Senomyx, Inc.	1	2.8	86,962	1.8	2,972	2.2	2,843	2.4
10.	Sunesis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	1	9.3	53,980	1.1	2,813	2.1	2,231	1.9
11.	TransForm Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	1	8.4	59,000	1.2	2,644	2.0	1,984	1.7
12.	Digene Corporation	1	5.8	109,750	2.2	2,634	2.0	1,610	1.4
13.	Dendreon Corporation	1	4.8	70,647	1.4	2,533	1.9	2,077	1.8
14.	Avigen, Inc.	2	5.7(5)	112,830	2.3	2,458	1.9	2,351	2.0
15.	Gene Logic Inc.	3	5.1(6)	112,271	2.3	2,420	1.8	1,695	1.4
16.	Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	2	10.8	77,203	1.6	2,393	1.8	2,331	2.0
17.	Acusphere, Inc.	1	7.8	47,500	1.0	2,350	1.8	1,843	1.6
18.	Biogen Idec Inc.	1	6.3	74,557	1.5	2,310	1.7	1,562	1.3
19.	Cardinal Health, Inc.	1	8.6	67,050	1.4	2,236	1.7	2,230	1.9
20.	Arena Pharmaceuticals, Inc.	2	12.8(7)	86,031	1.8	2,225	1.7	1,995	1.7
	Total/Weighted Average(8)	33	8.4	2,055,542	41.8% 5	65,835	49.6% \$	58,740	50.1%

- (1)
  Annualized base rent means the annualized fixed base rental amount in effect as of March 31, 2004 (using rental revenue computed on a straight-line basis in accordance with GAAP).
- Annualized net effective rent is the annualized base rent in effect as of March 31, 2004 (using rental revenue computed on a straight-line basis in accordance with GAAP), less (for gross leases) real estate taxes and insurance, common area and other operating expenses and (for all leases) amortization of tenant improvements and leasing commissions.
- Amount shown is a weighted average of multiple leases with this tenant for 13,883 rentable square feet, 69,997 rentable square feet and 7,557 rentable square feet with remaining lease terms of 7.5 years, 0.8 years and 0.1 years, respectively.
- (4) Amount shown is a weighted average of multiple leases with this tenant for 100,263 rentable square feet and 11,162 rentable square feet with remaining lease terms of 10.7 years and 2.7 years, respectively.
- (5)
  Amount shown is a weighted average of multiple leases with this tenant for 67,482 rentable square feet and 45,348 rentable square feet with remaining lease terms of 6.7 years and 4.2 years, respectively.

(6)

Amount shown is a weighted average of multiple leases with this tenant for 57,410 rentable square feet, 49,225 rentable square feet and 5,636 rentable square feet with remaining lease terms of 6.8 years, 3.7 years and 0.2 years, respectively.

- (7)
  Amount shown is a weighted average of multiple leases with this tenant for 56,698 rentable square feet and 29,333 rentable square feet with remaining lease terms of 14.8 years and 9.1 years, respectively.
- (8) Weighted average based on percentage of aggregate leased square feet.

## **Property and Lease Information**

We believe that the balance in year-to-year lease expirations of our properties improves the stability of our portfolio. The following table is a summary of lease expirations at our properties as of March 31, 2004:

Year of Lease Expiration	Number of Expiring Leases	Square Footage of Expiring Leases	Percentage of Aggregate Portfolio Lease Square Footage	Annualized Base Rent of Expiring Leases (per square foot)
2004	59(1)	356,463	7.3% \$	24.21
2005	28	304,595	6.2	28.70
2006	35	809,016	16.5	24.55
2007	19	364,744	7.4	23.69
2008	13	319,560	6.5	28.13
Thereafter	55	2,761,544	56.1	28.17

(1) Includes 20 month-to-month leases for approximately 61,000 square feet.

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

We expect to receive approximately \$120,362,500 in net proceeds from the sale of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock in this offering, or approximately \$138,521,875 if the underwriters' over-allotment option is exercised in full, after payment of our expenses related to this offering and underwriting discounts and commissions. We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering to redeem all 1,543,500 of our outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock on July 7, 2004 and to reduce the outstanding balance on our \$440 million unsecured line of credit. We may then borrow from time to time under our unsecured line of credit to provide funds for general working capital and other corporate purposes, including the acquisition of additional life science properties and the redevelopment or development of existing or new properties. As of March 31, 2004, we had an aggregate \$363 million of borrowings outstanding on the unsecured line of credit and our \$150 million unsecured term loan at a weighted average interest rate of 2.63%. The unsecured line of credit and unsecured term loan, under which Bank of America acts as manager for a syndicate of lenders, mature in November 2006 and November 2008, respectively. The unsecured line of credit provides for an extension (provided there is no default) of an additional one-year period upon notice from us and the consent of the participating lenders.

### **CAPITALIZATION**

The following table presents our capitalization as of March 31, 2004:

on an historical basis; and

on a pro forma basis giving effect to the sale of shares of Series C Preferred Stock at \$25.00 per share and the application of the net proceeds from this offering as described in "Use of proceeds."

We are presenting the information below assuming no exercise of the overallotment option we have granted to the underwriters. The information set forth in the following table should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by, the financial statements and the notes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, which are incorporated by reference into the accompanying prospectus.

	As of March 31, 2004			2004	
	]	Historical		Pro forma	
		(dollars in	thous	ands)	
Debt:					
Secured notes payable	\$	355,898	\$	355,898	
Unsecured line of credit		213,000		131,225	
Unsecured term loan		150,000		150,000	
Stockholders' Equity(1):					
9.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share; 1,610,000 shares authorized; 1,543,500 shares issued and outstanding on an historical basis;		20 500			
no shares issued or outstanding on a pro forma basis; \$25.00 liquidation value (2) 9.10% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share;		38,588			
2,300,000 shares authorized; 2,300,000 shares issued and outstanding on an historical and pro					
forma basis; \$25.00 liquidation value		57,500		57,500	
8.375% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, \$0.01 par value per share;					
5,750,000 authorized; no shares issued and outstanding on an historical basis; 5,000,000 shares issued and outstanding on a pro forma basis; \$25.00 liquidation value Common stock, \$0.01 par value per share; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 19,378,282 shares				125,000	
issued and outstanding on an historical and pro forma basis		194		194	
Additional paid-in capital		414,317		409,680	
Deferred compensation		(1,976)		(1,976)	
Retained earnings		10,120		10,120	
Accumulated other comprehensive income (3)		(7,019)		(7,019)	
		(1,127)		(1,,,,,,,	
Total capitalization	\$	1,230,622	\$	1,230,622	

<sup>(1)</sup>The information presented does not include 312,972 shares of our common stock that we have reserved for issuance under our Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Award and Incentive Plan. As of March 31, 2004, options to purchase 704,599 shares of our common stock were outstanding and, of those options granted, options to purchase 556,602 shares were exercisable.

We have elected to redeem all 1,543,500 of our outstanding shares of 9.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock on July 7, 2004. The preferred stock will be redeemed at a redemption price of \$25.00 per share, plus \$0.5409722 per share, representing accumulated and unpaid dividends to the redemption date. A portion of the proceeds from the sale of Series C Preferred Stock in this

offering will be utilized to redeem the Series A preferred stock. See "Use of Proceeds."

(3) Accumulated other comprehensive income consists of \$1,169 of unrealized gains on marketable securities and \$(8,188) of unrealized losses on interest rate swap agreements.

#### SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected financial data set forth below is derived from our unaudited financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 and from our audited financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. Our unaudited interim results, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments (consisting solely of normal recurring adjustments) which are necessary to present fairly the results of our operations for the unaudited interim periods. Our unaudited interim results for the three months ended March 31, 2004 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2004. The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the more detailed information contained in the financial statements and notes thereto and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 and our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, which are incorporated by reference into the accompanying prospectus.

	For the Three Months ended March 31,				For the Year Ended December 31,			
	2004			2003	2003		2002	
		(1	Dollars	in thousands, ex	cept p	er share amount	s)	
Operating Data:								
Total revenue	\$	42,775	\$	40,039	\$	160,558	\$	142,271
Total expenses		29,061		28,370		112,054		104,000
Income from continuing operations		13,714		11,669		48,504		38,271
Income from discontinued operations, net		1,626		480		11,139		1,761
Net income	\$	15,340	\$	12,149	\$	59,643	\$	40,032
Dividends on preferred stock		2,225		2,225		8,898		8,579
Dividends on preferred stock		2,223		2,223		0,070		0,377
Net income available to common stockholders	\$	12 115	\$	0.024	\$	50.745	\$	21 452
Net income available to common stockholders	<b>Ф</b>	13,115	<b>Ф</b>	9,924	<b>D</b>	50,745	<b>D</b>	31,453
Basic income per common share:								
Income from continuing operations	\$	0.71	\$	0.62	\$	2.55	\$	2.18
Income from discontinued operations, net	\$	0.08	\$	0.03	\$	0.59	\$	0.10
meonie from discontinued operations, not	Ψ	0.00	Ψ	0.03	Ψ	0.57	Ψ	0.10
				_		_		_
Net income	\$	0.80	\$	0.64	\$	3.14	\$	2.28
Net income available to common stockholders	\$	0.68	\$	0.53	\$	2.67	\$	1.79
Diluted income per common share:								
	ф	0.70	Ф	0.61	Φ.	2.52	ф	0.14
Income from continuing operations	\$	0.70	\$	0.61	\$	2.52	\$	2.14
Income from discontinued operations, net	\$	0.08	\$	0.03	\$	0.58	\$	0.10
Not income	¢	0.79	¢	0.62	¢	2 10	¢	2.24
Net income	\$	0.78	\$	0.63	\$	3.10	\$	2.24
Net income available to common stockholders	\$	0.67	\$	0.52	\$	2.64	\$	1.76
Weighted average shares of common stock								
outstanding:								

	For the Three Months ended March 31,				For the Year Ended December 31,			
Basic		19,206,954		18,895,821		18,993,856		17,594,228
Diluted		19,584,003		19,136,372		19,247,790		17,859,787
Cash dividends declared per share of common stock	\$	0.60	\$	0.53	\$	2.20	\$	2.00
		S-18						

Balance Sheet Data (at period end):								
Rental properties, net of accumulated depreciation	\$	1,016,385	\$	974,015	\$	982,297	\$	976,422
Total assets	\$	1,294,820	\$	1,211,291	\$	1,272,577	\$	1,159,243
Secured notes payable and unsecured line of credit and		, , , , , ,	•	, , , -		, , , , , , ,	•	,,
unsecured term loan	\$	718,898	\$	666,405	\$	709,007	\$	614,878
Total liabilities	\$	783,096	\$	723,599	\$	765,442	\$	673,390
Stockholders' equity	\$	511,724	\$	487,692	\$	507,135	\$	485,853
Other Data:								
Net income	\$	15,340	\$	12,149	\$	59,643	\$	40,032
Add:		ĺ		ĺ		ĺ		
Depreciation and amortization(1)		9,981		9,461		38,901		34,071
Impairment on investments		,,,,,,,,,,		,,101		30,701		2,545
Subtract:								2,543
		(2.225)		(2.225)		<b>(0.000</b> )		(0.570)
Dividends on preferred stock		(2,225)		(2,225)		(8,898)		(8,579)
(Gain) loss on sales of property(2)		(1,627)		455		(8,286)		
Funds from operations(3)	\$	21,469	\$	19,840	\$	81,360	\$	68,069
Tands from operations(e)	_			27,010		00,000	_	00,003
stockholders per share (diluted) to FFO per common share (diluted)								
Net income available to common stockholders per share (diluted)	\$	0.67	\$	0.52	\$	2.64	\$	1.76
Depreciation and amortization per common share(1)	\$	0.51	\$	0.49	\$	2.02	\$	1.91
			_		_		_	
(Gain) loss on sales of property per common share(2)	\$	(0.08)	\$	0.02	\$	(0.43)		
impairment on investments		_	' <u></u>	_		_	\$	0.14
			_		_			
FFO per common share (diluted)(3)	\$	1.10	\$	1.04	\$	4.23	\$	3.81
Cash flows from operating activities	\$	19,516	\$	17,636	\$	74,847	\$	67,050
Cash flows from investing activities		(20,388)		(54,999)		(139,810)		(227,840)
Cash flows from financing activities		243		37,247		66,158		162,204
Number of properties owned at period end		89		88		89		89
Rentable square feet of properties owned at period end		5,744,112		5,734,589		5,682,438		5,753,530
Occupancy of properties owned at period end Occupancy of properties owned at period end,		86%		90%		88%	)	89
excluding properties under redevelopment		93%	)	96%	)	94%		969

<sup>(1)</sup>Includes depreciation and amortization on assets "held for sale" reflected as discontinued operations (for the periods prior to when such assets were designated as "held for sale").

<sup>(</sup>Gain) loss on sales of property relates to the disposition of a property in the Suburban Washington D.C. market in the first quarter of 2004, the disposition of a property in the Suburban Washington D.C. market during the fourth quarter of 2003, the disposition of a property in the Eastern Massachusetts market during the third quarter of 2003 and the disposition of a property in the San Francisco Bay market in the first quarter of 2003.

(3)

GAAP basis accounting for real estate assets utilize historical cost accounting and assumes real estate values diminish over time. In an effort to overcome the miscorrelation between real estate values and historical cost accounting for real estate assets, the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, established the measurement tool of funds from operations, or FFO. Since its introduction, FFO has become a widely used non-GAAP financial measure by REITs. We believe that FFO is helpful to investors as an additional measure of the performance of an equity REIT. We compute FFO in accordance with standards established by the Board of Governors of NAREIT in its April 2002 White Paper, or White Paper, and related implementation guidance, which may differ from the methodology for calculating FFO utilized by other equity REITs, and, accordingly, may not be comparable to such other REITs. The White Paper defines FFO as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains (or losses) from sales, plus real estate depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures. While FFO is a relevant and widely used measure of operating performance for REITs, it should not be considered as an alternative to net income (determined in accordance with GAAP) as an indication of financial performance, or to cash flows from operating activities (determined in accordance with GAAP) as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions. We believe that net income is the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to FFO.

# RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Our consolidated ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends were 1.60x and 1.52x for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and 1.51x, 1.31x and 1.28x for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

We compute the ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends by dividing earnings by combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends. For this purpose, earnings consist of earnings from continuing operations before income taxes and fixed charges. Fixed charges consist of interest incurred (including amortization of deferred financing costs and capitalized interest) and write-off of unamortized loan costs.

#### DESCRIPTION OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK

In addition to the information below, you should also read the information under "Description of Capital Stock Preferred Stock" beginning on page 15 of the accompanying prospectus before deciding whether to invest in the Series C Preferred Stock. However, if the terms set forth herein differ from the terms set forth in the accompanying prospectus, you should rely on the terms set forth below.

#### General

We are currently authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series, with such terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption, in each case, if any, as are permitted by Maryland law and as our board of directors may determine without any further vote or action by our stockholders.

Prior to the completion of this offering, our board of directors will adopt articles supplementary to our charter determining the number and the terms of a series of preferred stock that will be designated "8.375% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock." The following summary of the terms and provisions of the Series C Preferred Stock does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the pertinent sections of our charter, including the articles supplementary to be adopted, each of which you may obtain from us.

As of the date of this prospectus supplement, no shares of Series C Preferred Stock are outstanding.

Except as described under "Voting Rights" below, none of the terms of the Series C Preferred Stock, our charter or any of our debt agreements contain any provisions affording holders of the Series C Preferred Stock protection in the event of a highly leveraged or other transaction that might adversely affect holders of the Series C Preferred Stock.

#### Maturity

The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and will not be subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption, except as described under "Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer" below.

#### Rank

The Series C Preferred Stock will, with respect to dividend rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, rank:

senior to all classes or series of our common stock and to all other equity securities ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up;

on a parity with the Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and any other equity securities authorized or designated by us, the terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or Parity Stock; and

junior to all of our existing and future indebtedness and to any class or series of equity securities authorized or designated by us in the future which specifically provides that such class or series ranks senior to the Series C Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

#### Dividends

Subject to the rights of series of preferred stock which may from time to time come into existence, holders of shares of the Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, when and as authorized by our board of directors and declared by us, out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends, cumulative preferential cash dividends at the rate of 8.375% per annum of the Liquidation Preference (as defined below) per share (equivalent to a fixed annual amount of \$2.09375 per share).

Dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock will be cumulative from the date of original issue and will be payable quarterly in arrears on the fifteenth day of January, April, July and October of each year or, if any such day is not a business day, then on the next succeeding business day. The first dividend will be payable on October 15, 2004. Dividends payable on the Series C Preferred Stock for any partial dividend period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. Dividends will be payable to holders of record as they appear in our stock records at the close of business on the applicable record date, which will be the last business day of December, March, June and September or on such other date designated by our board of directors that is not more than 30 nor less than 10 days prior to the applicable dividend payment date (each, a "Dividend Record Date"). The first Dividend Record Date for determination of stockholders entitled to receive dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock is expected to be on or about October 1, 2004.

No dividends on shares of the Series C Preferred Stock may be authorized by our board of directors and declared by us or paid or set apart for payment by us at such time as the terms and provisions of any of our agreements, including any agreement relating to our indebtedness, prohibit such declaration, payment or setting apart for payment or provide that such declaration, payment or setting apart for payment would constitute a breach thereof or a default thereunder, or if such declaration or payment is restricted or prohibited by law.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock will accrue whether or not we have earnings, whether or not there are funds legally available for the payment of such dividends and whether or not such dividends are declared. Accrued but unpaid dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock will accumulate as of the dividend payment date on which they became payable.

If for any taxable year, we elect to designate as "capital gain dividends" (as defined in Section 857 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) any portion (the "Capital Gains Amount") of the dividends (as determined for federal income tax purposes) paid or made available for the year to holders of all classes of stock (the "Total Dividends"), then the portion of the Capital Gains Amount that shall be allocable to the holders of Series C Preferred Stock shall be the amount that bears the same ratio to the Capital Gains Amount that the Total Dividends (as determined for federal income tax purposes) paid or made available to the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock for the year bears to the Total Dividends. We may elect to retain and pay income tax on our net long-term capital gains. In such a case, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock would include in income their proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gains, as designated by us.

If any shares of Series C Preferred Stock are outstanding, no dividends may be declared or paid or set apart for payment on any of our common stock or any other series of preferred stock ranking, as to dividends, junior to the Series C Preferred Stock, other than a dividend in shares of our common stock or in shares of any other class of stock ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends and upon liquidation, for any period, unless full cumulative dividends have been or contemporaneously are declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof is set apart for such payment on the Series C Preferred Stock and all other series of preferred stock ranking, as to dividends, on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock for all past dividend periods and the then current dividend period. If dividends are not paid in full (or a sum sufficient for such full payment is not so set apart) upon the Series C Preferred Stock and the shares of any other series of preferred

stock ranking on a parity as to dividends with the Series C Preferred Stock, all dividends declared upon the Series C Preferred Stock and any other series of preferred stock ranking on a parity as to dividends with the Series C Preferred Stock must be declared on a pro rated basis so that the amount of dividends declared per share of Series C Preferred Stock and such other series of preferred stock will in all cases bear to each other the same ratio that accrued dividends per share on the Series C Preferred Stock and such other series of preferred stock (which shall not include any accrual in respect of unpaid dividends for prior dividend periods if such preferred stock does not have a cumulative dividend) bear to each other.

Except as provided in the immediately preceding paragraph, unless full cumulative dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof is set apart for payment for all past dividend periods and the then current dividend period, no dividends (other than in shares of our common stock or other shares of stock ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends and upon liquidation) may be declared or paid or set aside for payment nor may any other distribution be declared or made upon our common stock or any of our other stock ranking junior to or on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation, nor may any shares of our common stock, or any other shares of our stock ranking junior to or on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends or upon liquidation, be redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by us for any consideration or any monies be paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such shares, except by conversion into or exchange for our other stock ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends and amounts upon liquidation or exchanges for the purpose of preserving our qualification as a REIT. Holders of shares of the Series C Preferred Stock will not be entitled to any dividend, whether payable in cash, property or stock, in excess of full cumulative dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock as provided above.

No interest, or sum of money in lieu of interest, will be payable in respect of any dividend payment or payments on the Series C Preferred Stock which may be in arrears.

Any dividend payment made on shares of the Series C Preferred Stock will first be credited against the earliest accrued but unpaid dividend due with respect to such shares which remains payable.

### **Liquidation Preference**

Subject to the rights of other series of preferred stock which may from time to time come into existence, upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, the holders of shares of Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to be paid out of our assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders the liquidation preference of \$25.00 per share (the "Liquidation Preference"), plus an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid dividends to the date of payment, before any distribution of assets is made to holders of our common stock or any of our other classes or series of stock that rank junior to the Series C Preferred Stock as to liquidation rights. Holders of Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to written notice of any event triggering the right to receive such Liquidation Preference. After payment of the full amount of the Liquidation Preference, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends to which they are entitled, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock will have no right or claim to any of our remaining assets. For this purpose, our consolidation or merger with or into any other trust or entity, or the sale, lease, consolidation, conveyance or disposition of all or substantially all of our assets, or the effectuation of a transaction or series of related transactions in which more than 50% of our voting power is disposed of, will not be deemed to constitute our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

In the event that, upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, our available assets are insufficient to pay the amount of the liquidation distributions on all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock and the corresponding amounts payable on all shares of

Parity Stock, then the holders of shares of Series C Preferred Stock and Parity Stock will be entitled to share ratably in any such distribution of assets in proportion to the full liquidating distributions to which they would otherwise respectively be entitled.

### **Optional Redemption**

The Series C Preferred Stock is not redeemable before June 29, 2009, except that, in order to ensure that we will remain qualified as a REIT for federal tax purposes, the Series C Preferred Stock owned by a stockholder in excess of the ownership limit, as described in "Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer", will automatically be exchanged for shares of our excess stock and we will have the right to purchase such excess stock from the holder. On and after June 29, 2009, we may, at our option upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days written notice, redeem shares, in whole or in part, at any time or from time to time, for cash at a redemption price of \$25.00 per share, plus all accrued and unpaid dividends thereon, if any, to the date fixed for redemption (except as provided below), without interest.

### **Procedures for Redemption**

Holders of Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed will be required to surrender such Series C Preferred Stock at the place designated in such notice and will be entitled to the redemption price and any accrued and unpaid dividends payable upon such redemption following such surrender. If notice of redemption of any shares of Series C Preferred Stock has been given and if the funds necessary for such redemption have been set aside by us in trust for the benefit of the holders of any shares of Series C Preferred Stock so called for redemption, then from and after the redemption date dividends will cease to accrue on such shares of Series C Preferred Stock, such shares of Series C Preferred Stock will no longer be deemed outstanding and all rights of the holders of such shares will terminate, except the right to receive the redemption price. If less than all of the outstanding Series C Preferred Stock is to be redeemed, the Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed will be selected on a pro-rata basis (as nearly as may be practicable without creating fractional shares) or by any other equitable method determined by us. Our ability to redeem Series C Preferred Stock is subject to the limitations on distributions in the Maryland General Corporation Law.

Unless full cumulative dividends on all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock have been or contemporaneously are declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set apart for payment for all past dividend periods and the then current dividend period, no shares of Series C Preferred Stock or Parity Stock may be redeemed unless all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock or Parity Stock are simultaneously redeemed and we will not have the right to purchase or otherwise acquire directly or indirectly any shares of Series C Preferred Stock or Parity Stock (except by exchange for our stock ranking junior to the Series C Preferred Stock or Parity Stock as to dividends and upon liquidation); provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prevent the exchange by us of Series C Preferred Stock or Parity Stock for an equal number of shares of our excess stock in order to ensure that we continue to meet the requirements for qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes as described under " Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer," or the purchase or acquisition of shares of Series C Preferred Stock pursuant to a purchase or exchange offer made on the same terms to holders of all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

Notice of redemption will be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of New York, such publication to be made once a week for two successive weeks commencing not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the redemption date. A similar notice will be mailed by us not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the redemption date, addressed to the respective holders of record of the Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed at their respective addresses as they appear on our stock transfer records. No failure to give such notice or any defect therein or in the mailing thereof shall affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any shares of Series C Preferred Stock except as to the holder to whom notice was defective or not given. Each notice will state: (1) the

redemption date; (2) the redemption price; (3) the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock to be redeemed; (4) the place or places where certificates for shares of the Series C Preferred Stock are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price; and (5) that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on such redemption date. If less than all of the Series C Preferred Stock held by any holder is to be redeemed, the notice mailed to such holder will also specify the number of shares of Series C Preferred Stock held by such holder to be redeemed.

On any redemption of Series C Preferred Stock, we will pay, in cash, any accumulated and unpaid dividends through the redemption date, unless a redemption date falls after a Dividend Record Date and prior to the corresponding dividend payment date, in which case each holder of Series C Preferred Stock at the close of business on such Dividend Record Date will be entitled to the dividend payable on such shares on the corresponding dividend payment date notwithstanding the redemption of such shares between such Dividend Record Date and the corresponding dividend payment date or our default in the payment of the dividend due. Except as provided above, we will make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends, whether or not in arrears, on shares of Series C Preferred Stock which may have been called for redemption.

The Series C Preferred Stock has no stated maturity and will not be subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption. However, in order to ensure that we continue to meet the requirements for qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, Series C Preferred Stock acquired by a stockholder in excess of the 9.8% ownership limitation contained in our charter will automatically be exchanged for shares of our excess stock. See "Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer."

### **Voting Rights**

Holders of the Series C Preferred Stock will not have any voting rights, except as set forth below.

If dividends on the Series C Preferred Stock or Parity Preferred (as defined below) shall be in arrears for six or more quarters (whether consecutive or not) (a "Preferred Dividend Default"), whether or not earned or declared, the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock, together with all other series of preferred stock ranking on a parity with the Series C Preferred Stock as to dividends ("Parity Preferred"), upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, will be entitled to vote separately as a single voting group for the election of a total of two additional directors to serve on our board of directors (the "Preferred Stock Directors"). Such vote may be taken at a special meeting called by the holders of record of at least 20% of the Series C Preferred Stock or the holders of record of at least 20% of any series of Parity Preferred so in arrears (unless such request is received less than 90 days before the date fixed for the next annual or special meeting of stockholders) or at the next annual meeting of stockholders, and at each subsequent annual meeting until all unpaid dividends accumulated on such shares of Series C Preferred Stock and Parity Preferred for the past dividend periods and the dividend for the then current dividend period shall have been fully paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set aside for payment. A quorum for any such meeting will be deemed to exist if at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock and shares of Parity Preferred upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable are represented in person or by proxy at such meeting. Such Preferred Stock Directors will be elected upon the affirmative vote of a plurality of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock and such Parity Preferred present and voting in person or by proxy at a duly called and held meeting at which a quorum is present. If and when all accumulated dividends and the dividend for the then current dividend period on the Series C Preferred Stock have been paid in full or set aside for payment in full, the holders thereof will be divested of the foregoing voting rights (subject to revesting in the event of each and every Preferred Dividend Default) and, if all accumulated dividends and the dividend for the then current dividend period have been paid in full or declared and set aside for payment in full on all series of Parity Preferred upon which like voting rights have been conferred and are exercisable, the

term of office of each Preferred Stock Director so elected will immediately terminate. The Preferred Stock Directors will each be entitled to one vote per director on any matter.

So long as any shares of Series C Preferred Stock remain outstanding, we may not without the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the shares of the Series C Preferred Stock and the shares of any series of Parity Preferred or Parity Stock that are affected in a manner similar to the Series C Preferred Stock (and upon which like voting rights have been conferred) outstanding at the time, given in person or by proxy, either in writing or at a meeting (voting together as a single class):

authorize or create, or increase the authorized or issued amount of, any class or series of stock ranking senior to the Series C Preferred Stock with respect to payment of dividends or the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up or reclassify any of our authorized stock into such shares, or create, authorize, or issue any obligation or security convertible into or evidencing the right to purchase any such shares; or

amend, alter or repeal the provisions of our charter, including the articles supplementary, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise (an "Event"), so as to materially and adversely affect any right, preference, privilege or voting power of the Series C Preferred Stock; provided, that the occurrence of any Event shall not be deemed to materially and adversely affect such rights, preferences, privileges or voting power so long as the Series C Preferred Stock remains outstanding and the terms thereof are materially unchanged or if we are not the surviving entity and the successor entity issues to holders of the Series C Preferred Stock preferred shares with substantially identical rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers as the Series C Preferred Stock.

Notwithstanding any other provision in our charter or articles supplementary thereto, the vote of the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock will not be required to (1) increase the amount of authorized preferred stock, (2) create or issue any other series of preferred stock, or (3) increase the authorized number of shares of such series, in any such case ranking on a parity with or junior to the Series C Preferred Stock with respect to payment of dividends or the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

The foregoing voting provisions will not apply if, at or prior to the time when the act with respect to which such vote would otherwise be required is effected, all outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock have been redeemed or called for redemption upon proper notice and sufficient funds have been deposited in trust to effect such redemption.

### Conversion

The Series C Preferred Stock is not convertible into or exchangeable for any of our other property or securities, except that the shares of Series C Preferred Stock may be exchanged for shares of our excess stock in order to ensure that we remain qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.

### **Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer**

For us to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, certain restrictions apply to the ownership of shares of our stock. See the accompanying prospectus under "Federal Income Tax Considerations Requirements for Qualification." Because our board of directors believes it is essential for us to continue to qualify as a REIT, our charter restricts the ownership, acquisition and transfer of our stock, including shares of Series C Preferred Stock.

Our charter provides that if, at any time when we are qualified as a REIT, a transfer of any of our capital stock (either common stock or preferred stock) would result in (1) any person (other than persons excepted by our charter or by our board of directors) acquiring directly or indirectly beneficial

ownership of more than 9.8% of the total value of our outstanding shares of capital stock (the "Ownership Limit"); (2) our outstanding capital stock being constructively or beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons; or (3) our being "closely held" within the meaning of Section 856 of the Internal Revenue Code, then:

any proposed transfer will not be valid and will not be recognized by us; and

the shares proposed to be transferred will be automatically exchanged for shares of a separate class of stock, called excess stock, which will be held by a trustee of a trust for the exclusive benefit of a charitable beneficiary until such time as the shares are re-transferred to a person or persons in whose hands the shares would not be excess stock and certain price-related restrictions are satisfied. The shares of our excess stock held by the trustee will not provide the proposed transferee with any voting or dividend rights. However, the proposed transferee will have certain rights in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

For a further discussion of restrictions on ownership and transfer of our stock see "Description of Capital Stock Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer" in the accompanying prospectus.

### **Transfer and Dividend Paying Agent**

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company will act as the transfer and dividend payment agent in respect of the Series C Preferred Stock.

### **Form**

The Series C Preferred Stock will be issued and maintained in book-entry form registered in the name of the nominee of The Depository Trust Company.

S-28

### FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following summary of certain federal income tax considerations is based on current law, is for general information only, and is not tax advice. This discussion does not purport to address all aspects of taxation that may be relevant to particular stockholders in light of their personal investment or tax circumstances, or to certain types of stockholders (including insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, financial institutions or broker dealers, foreign corporations and persons who are not citizens or residents of the United States) subject to special treatment under the federal income tax laws.

EACH PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER SHOULD CONSULT WITH ITS TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE SPECIFIC TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND SALE OF THE SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK AND OF THE COMPANY'S ELECTION TO BE TAXED AS A REIT, INCLUDING THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND FOREIGN INCOME AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF SUCH PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE AND ELECTION, AND OF POTENTIAL CHANGES IN APPLICABLE TAX LAWS.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1996, and intend to be organized and to continue to operate in a manner consistent with such election and all rules with which a REIT must comply. Although we believe that we are organized and operate in such a manner, we cannot assure you that we qualify or will remain qualified as a REIT. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Code provisions relating to the nature of our gross income, the diversification of our gross assets and the beneficial ownership of our capital stock for which there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations. The determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will be subject to federal income tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. In addition, unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions, we will be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification is lost. The additional tax would significantly reduce the cash flow available for distribution to stockholders which distribution would not be required to be made. This prospectus supplement does not address our taxation or the impact on us of our election to be taxed as a REIT. Prospective investors are urged to consult the prospectus to which this prospectus supplement relates for information relating to our taxation as a REIT. The discussion set forth below assumes that we qualify as a REIT under the Code.

At the closing of the offering, we will obtain from Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP its opinion to the effect that, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1996, we have been organized and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and our proposed method of operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code. It must be emphasized that this opinion will be based and conditioned upon certain assumptions and representations made by us as to factual matters (including representations concerning, among other things, our business and properties, the amount of rents attributable to personal property and other items regarding our ability to meet the various requirements for qualification as a REIT). The opinion will be expressed as of its date, and Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP will have no obligation to advise holders of Series C Preferred Stock of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed or any subsequent change in the applicable law.

Moreover, qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon us having met and continuing to meet, through actual annual operating results, distribution levels and diversity of stock ownership, the various qualification tests imposed under the Code discussed in the prospectus, the results of which will not be reviewed by Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP. The Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP opinion will rely, in part, on an opinion issued by Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, which previously served as our tax counsel.

#### **Taxation of Taxable Domestic Stockholders**

### Dividends and Other Distributions

As long as we qualify as a REIT, distributions made to our taxable domestic stockholders (including holders of Series C Preferred Stock) out of current or accumulated earnings and profits (and not designated as "capital gain dividends") will be taken into account by them as dividend income and will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporations. For purposes of determining whether distributions on the Series C Preferred Stock are out of current or accumulated earnings and profits, our earnings and profits will be allocated first to our outstanding preferred shares, including the Series C Preferred Stock, and then to our common stock. If for any taxable year, we elect to designate as "capital gain dividends" (as defined in Section 857 of the Code) any portion (the "Capital Gains Amount") of the dividends (as determined for federal income tax purposes) paid or made available for the year to holders of all classes of capital stock (the "Total Dividends"), then the portion of the Capital Gains Amount that shall be allocable to the holders of Series C Preferred Stock will be the amount that the Total Dividends (as determined for federal income tax purposes) paid or made available to the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock for the year bears to the Total Dividends. We may elect to retain and pay income tax on our net long-term capital gains. In such a case, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock would (1) include in income their proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gains, as designated by us, (2) receive a credit for their proportionate share of the tax paid by us, and (3) increase the adjusted tax basis of their Series C Preferred Stock by the difference between the amount of their capital gain and their share of the tax paid by us.

### Sale or Redemption of Series C Preferred Stock

On the sale of shares of the Series C Preferred Stock, gain or loss will be recognized by the holder in an amount equal to the difference between (1) the amount of cash and fair market value of any property received on such sale, and (2) the holder's adjusted basis in the Series C Preferred Stock. Such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss if the shares of the Series C Preferred Stock are held as capital assets, and will be long-term gain or loss if such shares have been held for more than one year at the time of sale. In general, any loss upon a sale or exchange of shares by a holder who has held such shares for six months or less (after applying certain holding period rules), will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of distributions from us required to be treated by such holder as long-term capital gain.

A redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock will be treated under Section 302 of the Code as a distribution that is taxable as a dividend (to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits), unless the redemption satisfies certain tests set forth in Section 302(b) of the Code enabling the redemption to be treated as a sale of the Series C Preferred Stock. The redemption will satisfy such tests if it (1) is "substantially disproportionate" with respect to the holder, (2) results in a "complete termination" of the holder's stock interest in us, or (3) is "not essentially equivalent to a dividend" with respect to the holder, all within the meaning of Section 302(b) of the Code. In determining whether any of these tests have been met, shares considered to be owned by the holder by reason of certain constructive ownership rules set forth in the Code, as well as shares actually owned, must generally be taken into account. Because the determination as to whether any of the alternative tests of Section 302(b) of the Code will be satisfied with respect to any particular holder of Series C Preferred Stock depends on the facts and circumstances at the time that the determination must be made, prospective investors are advised to consult their tax advisors to determine such tax treatment.

If a redemption of the Series C Preferred Stock is treated as a distribution that is taxable as a dividend, the amount of the distribution will be measured by the amount of cash and the fair market value of any property received by the stockholders. The stockholder's adjusted tax basis in such

redeemed Series C Preferred Stock generally will be transferred to the holder's remaining stockholdings in us in case of such dividend treatment.

### **Backup Withholding**

We will report to our domestic stockholders and the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, the amount of dividends paid during each calendar year, and the amount of tax withheld, if any. Under the backup withholding rules, a stockholder may be subject to backup withholding with respect to dividends paid and redemptions unless such holder (a) certifies that it is a corporation or comes within certain other exempt categories or (b) provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies that the holder is not subject to backup withholding, and otherwise complies with the backup withholding rules. A stockholder that does not provide his correct taxpayer identification number may also be subject to penalties imposed by the IRS. Any amount paid as backup withholding will be creditable against the stockholder's income tax liability.

Currently, the backup withholding rate is 28%. The rate is scheduled to increase to 31% in taxable year 2011.

### **Recent Tax Legislation**

On May 28, 2003, the President signed into law the Jobs and Growth Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2003. This new tax law reduces the maximum individual tax rate for long-term capital gains generally from 20% to 15% and for dividends generally from 38.6% to 15% for tax years through 2008. Because we are not generally subject to federal income tax on the portion of our REIT taxable income or capital gains distributed to our stockholders, our dividends generally are not eligible for the new 15% tax rate on dividends. As a result, our ordinary REIT dividends continue to be taxed at the higher tax rates applicable to ordinary income. However, the 15% tax rate for long-term capital gains and dividends generally applies to:

- (1) your long-term capital gains, if any, recognized on the disposition of our shares;
- (2) our distributions designated as long-term capital gain dividends (except to the extent attributable to real estate depreciation, in which case such distributions continue to be subject to a 25% tax rate);
- our dividends attributable to dividends received by us from non-REIT corporations, such as taxable REIT subsidiaries; and
- our dividends to the extent attributable to income upon which we have paid corporate income tax (e.g., to the extent that we distribute less than 100% of our taxable income).

Without future congressional action, the maximum tax rate on long-term capital gains will return to 20% in 2009, and the maximum rate on dividends will move to 35% in 2009 and 39.6% in 2011.

### Other Tax Consequences

We and our stockholders may be subject to state or local taxation in various state and local jurisdictions, including those in which we or our stockholders own property, transact business or reside. The state and local tax treatment of us and our stockholders may not conform to the federal income tax consequences discussed above. Consequently, prospective stockholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the effect of the state and local tax laws with respect an investment in our stock.

### **UNDERWRITING**

Citigroup Global Markets Inc., UBS Securities LLC and A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc. are acting as joint book-running managers of the offering, and are acting as representatives of the underwriters named below. Subject to the terms and conditions stated in the underwriting agreement dated the date of this prospectus supplement, each underwriter named below has agreed to purchase, and we have agreed to sell to that underwriter, the number of shares of our Series C Preferred Stock set forth opposite the underwriter's name.

Underwriter	Number of shares
Citigroup Global Markets Inc.	1,566,668
UBS Securities LLC	1,566,666
A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc.	1,566,666
Advest, Inc.	100,000
Crowell, Weedon & Co.	100,000
WR Hambrecht + Co, LLC	100,000
Total	5,000,000

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters to purchase the shares of our Series C Preferred Stock included in this offering are subject to approval of legal matters by counsel and to other conditions. The underwriters are obligated to purchase all the shares of our Series C Preferred Stock (other than those covered by the over-allotment option described below) if they purchase any of the shares of our Series C Preferred Stock.

The underwriters propose to offer some of the shares of our Series C Preferred Stock directly to the public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus supplement and some of the shares of our Series C Preferred Stock to dealers at the public offering price less a concession not to exceed \$0.50 per share. The underwriters may allow, and dealers may re-allow, a concession not to exceed \$0.35 per share on sales to other dealers. If all of the shares of our Series C Preferred Stock are not sold at the initial offering price, the representatives may change the public offering price and the other selling terms.

We have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days from the date of this prospectus supplement, to purchase up to 750,000 additional shares of our Series C Preferred Stock at the public offering price less the underwriting discount. The underwriters may exercise the option solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, in connection with this offering. To the extent the option is exercised, each underwriter must purchase a number of additional shares of our Series C Preferred Stock approximately proportionate to that underwriter's initial purchase commitment.

We have agreed that, for a period of 90 days from the date of this prospectus supplement, we will not, without the prior written consent of the representatives, dispose of or hedge any shares of our preferred stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for our preferred stock. The representatives in their sole discretion may release any of the securities subject to these lock-up agreements at any time without notice.

The Series C Preferred Stock is a new issue of securities and, prior to the Series C Preferred Stock being accepted for listing on the New York Stock Exchange, there will be no established trading market for the Series C Preferred Stock. We plan to list the Series C Preferred Stock on the New York Stock Exchange and trading of the Series C Preferred Stock is expected to commence within 30 days after the Series C Preferred Stock is first issued. In order to meet the requirements for listing the Series C Preferred Stock on the New York Stock Exchange, the underwriters have undertaken to sell (i) Series C Preferred Stock to ensure a minimum of 100 beneficial holders with a minimum of 100,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock outstanding and (ii) sufficient shares of Series C Preferred Stock so

that following this offering, the Series C Preferred Stock has a minimum aggregate market value of \$2.0 million. The underwriters have advised us that prior to the commencement of listing on the New York Stock Exchange they intend to make a market in the Series C Preferred Stock, but are not obligated to do so and may discontinue market making at any time without notice. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for the Series C Preferred Stock.

The following table shows the underwriting discounts and commissions that we are to pay to the underwriters in connection with this offering. These amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares of our Series C Preferred Stock.

		No Exercise	Full Exercise	
	<del>-</del>			
Per Share	\$	0.7875	\$	0.7875
Total	\$	3,937,500	\$	4,528,125

In connection with the offering, the representatives on behalf of the underwriters, may purchase and sell shares of our Series C Preferred Stock in the open market. These transactions may include short sales, syndicate covering transactions and stabilizing transactions. Short sales involve syndicate sales of our Series C Preferred Stock in excess of the number of shares to be purchased by the underwriters in the offering, which creates a syndicate short position. "Covered" short sales are sales of shares made in an amount up to the number of shares represented by the underwriters' over-allotment option. In determining the source of shares to close out the covered syndicate short position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase shares through the over-allotment option. Transactions to close out the covered syndicate short involve either purchases of our Series C Preferred Stock in the open market after the distribution has been completed or the exercise of the over-allotment option. The underwriters may also make "naked" short sales of shares in excess of the over-allotment option. The underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing shares of our Series C Preferred Stock in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the shares in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering. Stabilizing transactions consist of bids for or purchases of shares in the open market while the offering is in progress.

The underwriters also may impose a penalty bid. Penalty bids permit the underwriters to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the representatives repurchase shares originally sold by that syndicate member in order to cover syndicate short positions or make stabilizing purchases.

Any of these activities may have the effect of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the common stock. They may also cause the price of our Series C Preferred Stock to be higher than the price that would otherwise exist in the open market in the absence of these transactions. The underwriters may conduct these transactions on the New York Stock Exchange or in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise. If the underwriters commence any of these transactions, they may discontinue them at any time.

We estimate that our portion of the total expenses of this offering will be \$700,000.

The underwriters have performed investment banking and advisory services for us from time to time for which they have received customary fees and expenses. The underwriters may, from time to time, engage in transactions with and perform services for us in the ordinary course of their business.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the websites maintained by one or more of the underwriters. The representatives may agree to allocate a number of shares of our Series C Preferred Stock to underwriters for sale to their online brokerage account holders. The representatives will allocate shares of our Series C Preferred Stock to underwriters that may make

Internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations. In addition, shares may be sold by the underwriters to securities dealers who resell shares to online brokerage account holders.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, or to contribute to payments the underwriters may be required to make because of any of those liabilities.

We expect that delivery of the Series C Preferred Stock will be made against payment therefor on or about the closing specified on the cover page of this prospectus supplement, which is expected to be June 29, 2004, which is the seventh business day following the date of this prospectus supplement. Trades in the secondary market are generally required to settle in three business days, unless the parties to any such trade expressly agree otherwise. Purchasers who wish to trade the Series C Preferred Stock before the settlement of this offering, therefore, may be required, by virtue of the fact that the offered shares will settle in seven business days, to specify an alternate settlement cycle at the time of any such trade to prevent a failed settlement. Accordingly, purchasers of the Series C Preferred Stock who wish to trade the shares prior to June 29, 2004 should consult their own advisor.

### LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters relating to this offering will be passed upon for us by Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP, Los Angeles, California, and certain matters with respect to Maryland law, including the validity of the shares of the Series C Preferred Stock offered hereby, will be passed upon for us by Venable LLP, Baltimore, Maryland. Certain legal matters relating to this offering will be passed upon for the underwriters by Clifford Chance US LLP. Clifford Chance US LLP will rely upon the opinion of Venable LLP as to all matters of Maryland law.

### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements and schedule of Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. appearing in Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc.'s Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2003, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report thereon included therein and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated herein by reference in reliance upon such report given on the authority of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

### **PROSPECTUS**

# \$250,000,000 ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES, INC. Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Warrants

We may offer, from time to time in one or more series or classes, shares of our common stock, par value \$.01 per share (the "Common Stock"), shares or fractional shares of our preferred stock, par value \$.01 per share (the "Preferred Stock"), and warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock (the "Warrants"), with an aggregate public offering price of up to \$250,000,000, in amounts, at prices and on terms to be determined at the time of offering. The Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Warrants, collectively referred to herein as the "Securities," may be offered, separately or together, in separate series, in amounts, at prices and on terms to be set forth in one or more supplements to this Prospectus (each such supplement, a "Prospectus Supplement").

The specific terms of the Securities in respect of which this Prospectus is being delivered will be set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement and will include: in the case of Common Stock, any applicable initial public offering price; in the case of Preferred Stock, the specific title and stated value, and any dividend, liquidation, redemption, conversion, voting and other rights, and any applicable initial public offering price; and in the case of Warrants, the duration, offering price, exercise price, detachability thereof and any applicable public offering price. In addition, the specific terms of the Securities may include limitations on actual or constructive ownership and restrictions on transfer of the Securities, in each case as may be appropriate to preserve our status as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes.

The applicable Prospectus Supplement also will contain information, where applicable, about certain U.S. federal income tax consequences relating to, and any listing on a securities exchange of, the Securities covered by the Prospectus Supplement.

The Securities may be offered directly, through agents designated from time to time by us or to or through underwriters or dealers. If any agents or underwriters are involved in the sale of any of the Securities, their names, and any applicable purchase price, fee, commission or discount arrangement with, between or among them, will be set forth, or will be calculable from the information set forth, in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. See "Plan of Distribution." No Securities may be sold without delivery of this Prospectus and the applicable Prospectus Supplement describing the method and terms of the offering of such Securities.

Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "ARE." Our principal executive offices are located at 135 North Los Robles Avenue, Suite 250, Pasadena, California 91101 and our telephone number is (626) 578-0777.

See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 2 for a description of factors relevant to an investment in the Securities.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

The date of this Prospectus is June 10, 2002

Persons participating in an offering of the Securities may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain, or otherwise affect the price of the Securities. Such transactions may include stabilizing, the purchase of Securities to cover syndicate short positions and the imposition of penalty bids. For a description of those activities, see "Underwriting" in the accompanying Prospectus Supplement.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus or any Prospectus Supplement, and, if given or made, such other information and representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by us or by any underwriter, agent or dealer. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus and any Prospectus Supplement nor any sale made thereunder shall, under any circumstances, create an implication that there has been no change in our affairs since the date thereof or that the information contained therein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date thereof. This Prospectus and any Prospectus Supplement shall not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the registered securities to which it relates. Neither this Prospectus nor any Prospectus Supplement shall constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy such securities in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation would be unlawful.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Additional Information	ii
Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference	ii
The Company	1
Risk Factors	2
Use of Proceeds	14
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends	14
Description of Capital Stock	15
Warrants	20
Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws	21
Federal Income Tax Considerations	24
Plan of Distribution	34
Legal Matters	35
Experts	35
i	

### ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This Prospectus forms part of a registration statement we have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") on Form S-3 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), with respect to the Securities offered hereby. The registration statement, together with all amendments and exhibits, is herein referred to as the "Registration Statement." As permitted by the rules and regulations of the Commission, this Prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto. Additional information is available for inspection and copying at the offices of the Commission. Statements contained in this Prospectus, in any Prospectus Supplement or in any document incorporated by reference herein or therein as to the contents of any contract or other document referred to herein or therein are not necessarily complete, and in each instance reference is made to the copy of such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to, or incorporated by reference in, the Registration Statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such reference.

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and, in accordance therewith, file reports, proxy statements and other information with the Commission. The Registration Statement, the exhibits and schedules forming a part thereof, and the reports, proxy statements and other information we have filed with the Commission in accordance with the Exchange Act can be inspected and copied at the Public Reference Room maintained by the Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. Such material also may be accessed by visiting the following internet website maintained by the Commission that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers, such as us, that file electronically with the Commission: http://www.sec.gov. In addition, certain of the Securities are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and similar information regarding us may be inspected and copied at the offices of The New York Stock Exchange, Inc., 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The documents listed below have been filed by us with the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act and are incorporated herein by reference:

- (1) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.
- (2) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2002.
- (3) Current Reports on Form 8-K filed on January 2, January 18 and February 27, 2002.
- (4)

  The description of the Common Stock contained in the Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on May 14, 1997, including any amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating such description.
- The description of the Preferred Stock Purchase Rights contained in the Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on February 10, 2000, including any amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating such description.

All documents filed by us pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of this Prospectus and prior to the termination of the offering of the Securities to which this Prospectus relates shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus and to be a part hereof from the date of filing such documents.

Any statement contained herein or in a document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for purposes of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein (or in the applicable Prospectus Supplement) or in any other

subsequently filed document that is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such previous statement. Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed to constitute a part of this Prospectus, except as so modified or superseded.

Copies of all documents that are incorporated herein by reference (other than the exhibits to such documents, unless such exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference), will be provided upon request without charge to any person to whom this Prospectus and the applicable Prospectus Supplement are delivered. Requests for copies should be directed to Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc., 135 North Los Robles Avenue, Suite 250, Pasadena, California 91101, Attention: Corporate Secretary; telephone number (626) 578-0777.

iii

### THE COMPANY

We are a Maryland corporation formed in October 1994 that has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes. We are engaged primarily in the ownership, operation, management, acquisition, expansion and selective redevelopment and development of high quality, strategically located properties containing office and laboratory space designed and improved for lease principally to pharmaceutical, biotechnology, life science product and services companies, not-for-profit scientific research institutions, universities and related government agencies (collectively, the "life science industry"). Properties leased to tenants in the life science industry typically consist of buildings containing scientific research and development laboratories and other improvements that are generally generic to tenants operating in the life science industry. We call such properties "life science facilities." As of March 31, 2002, we owned 83 life science facilities (collectively, the "properties") located in the San Diego, Pasadena and San Francisco Bay areas of California; Seattle, Washington; suburban Washington, D.C.; eastern Massachusetts; North Carolina and Georgia; and the New Jersey and suburban Philadelphia areas.

1

### RISK FACTORS

An investment in the Securities involves various risks. Prospective investors should carefully consider the following information, in addition to the other information contained in this Prospectus, the applicable Prospectus Supplement and the documents incorporated herein and therein by reference, before making a decision to purchase any of the Securities. When used in this Prospectus, the words "believes," "expects," "anticipates," "intends" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act regarding events, conditions and financial trends that may affect our future plans of operations, business strategy, results of operations and financial position. Prospective investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those contemplated in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors including, but not limited to, those described below and elsewhere in this Prospectus, the applicable Prospectus Supplement and the documents incorporated herein and therein by reference.

### We Are Largely Dependent On The Life Science Industry For Revenues From Lease Payments

In general, our strategy is to invest primarily in properties used by tenants in the life science industry. Our business could be adversely affected if the life science industry experiences an economic downturn. Because of our industry focus, events within the life science industry may have a more pronounced effect on our ability to make distributions to our stockholders than if we had diversified investments. Also, our properties may be better suited for a particular life science industry tenant and could require modification before we are able to release vacant space to another life science industry tenant. Generally, our properties also may not be suitable for lease to traditional office tenants without significant expenditures on renovations.

### The Inability Of Any Tenant To Pay Us Rent Could Adversely Affect Our Business

Our revenues are derived primarily from rental payments and reimbursement of operating expenses under our leases. If our tenants, especially significant tenants, fail to make rental payments under their leases, our financial condition, cash flow and ability to make distributions to stockholders could be adversely affected.

As of March 31, 2002, we had 189 leases with a total of 164 tenants. Of our 83 properties, 45 were occupied by a single tenant. Three of our tenants accounted for an aggregate of approximately 14.2% of our aggregate annualized base rent, or approximately 6.1%, 4.1% and 4.0%, respectively. "Annualized base rent" means the annualized fixed base rental amount in effect as of March 31, 2002, using rental revenue calculated on a straight-line basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). Annualized base rent does not include reimbursements for real estate taxes and insurance, common area and other operating expenses, substantially all of which are borne by the tenants in the case of triple net leases.

The bankruptcy or insolvency of a major tenant may also adversely affect the income produced by a property. If any of our tenants becomes a debtor in a case under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, we cannot evict that tenant solely because of its bankruptcy. The bankruptcy court may authorize the tenant to reject and terminate its lease with us. Our claim against such a tenant for unpaid future rent would be subject to a statutory limitation that might be substantially less than the remaining rent actually owed to us under the tenant's lease. Any shortfall in rent payments could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

### Our U.S. Government Tenants May Not Receive Annual Appropriations, Which Could Adversely Affect Their Ability To Pay Us

U.S. government tenants may be subject to annual appropriations. If one of our U.S. government tenants fails to receive its annual appropriation, it might not be able to make its lease payments to us. In addition, defaults under leases with federal government tenants are governed by federal statute and not by state eviction or rent deficiency laws. All of our leases with U.S. government tenants provide that the government tenant may terminate the lease under certain circumstances. As of March 31, 2002, leases with U.S. government tenants at our properties accounted for approximately 4.6% of our aggregate annualized base rent.

# Our Tenants May Not Be Able To Pay Us If They Are Unsuccessful In Discovering, Developing, Making Or Selling Their Products And Technologies

Our life science industry tenants are subject to a number of risks, including the following, any one or more of which may adversely affect their ability to make rental payments to us:

Some of our tenants require significant funding to develop and commercialize their products and technologies, which funding must be obtained from private investors, the public market, companies in the life science industry or federal, state and local governments. Such funding may be or become unavailable or difficult to obtain, which in turn may adversely affect the tenants' ability to generate revenues or to pay us rent.

Even with sufficient funding, some of our tenants may not be able to discover or identify potential drug targets in humans, or potential drugs for use in humans, or to create tools or technologies which are commercially useful in the discovery or identification of potential drug targets or drugs.

Some of our tenants developing potential drugs may find that their drugs are not effective, or may even be harmful, when tested in humans.

Some of our tenants may not be able to manufacture their drugs economically, even if such drugs are proven through human clinical trials to be safe and effective in humans.

Drugs which are developed and manufactured by some of our tenants require regulatory approval prior to being made, marketed, sold and used. The regulatory approval process to manufacture and market drugs is costly, typically takes several years, requires the expenditure of substantial resources and is often unpredictable. A tenant may fail or experience significant delays in obtaining these approvals.

Some of our tenants and their licensors require patent, copyright or trade secret protection to develop, make, market and sell their products and technologies. A tenant may be unable to commercialize its products or technologies if patents covering such products or technologies do not issue, or are successfully challenged, narrowed, invalidated or circumvented by third parties, or if a tenant fails to obtain licenses to the discoveries of third parties necessary to commercialize its products or technologies.

A drug made by a tenant may not be well accepted by doctors and patients, or may be less effective or accepted than competitor's drugs, or may be subsequently recalled from the market, even if it is successfully developed, proven safe and effective in human clinical trials and manufactured and the requisite regulatory approvals are obtained.

We cannot assure you that our tenants will be able to develop, make, market or sell their products and technologies due to the risks inherent in the life science industry. Any tenant that is unable to avoid, or sufficiently mitigate, the risks described above, may have difficulty making rental payments to us.

### We Could Be Held Liable For Damages Resulting From Our Tenants' Use Of Hazardous Materials

Some of our life science industry tenants engage in research and development activities that involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals and biological and radioactive compounds. In the event of contamination or injury from the use of these hazardous materials, we could be held liable for damages that result. This liability could exceed our resources and any recovery available through any applicable environmental remediation insurance coverage and could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Together with our tenants, we must comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous materials and waste products. Failure to comply with, or changes in, these laws and regulations could adversely affect our business or our tenants' business and their ability to make rental payments to us.

### Loss Of A Tenant Could Have A Negative Impact On Our Business

Our properties are located only in the following markets:

A tenant may not renew its lease upon the expiration of the initial term. In addition, we may not be able to locate a qualified replacement tenant upon expiration or termination of a lease. Consequently, we could lose the cash flow from the affected property, which could negatively impact our business. We may have to divert cash flow generated by other properties to meet our mortgage payments, if any, or to pay other expenses related to owning the affected property. As of March 31, 2002, leases at our properties representing approximately 7.6% and 9.3% of the total square footage of our properties were scheduled to expire in 2002 and 2003, respectively.

### Poor Economic Conditions In Our Markets Could Adversely Affect Our Business

California (in the San Diego, Pasadena and San Francisco Bay areas).

suburban Washington, D.C. (including Maryland and Virginia).

eastern Massachusetts.

Seattle.

New Jersey and suburban Philadelphia.

the Southeast (including North Carolina and Georgia).

As a result of our geographic concentration, we depend upon the local economic conditions in these markets, including local real estate conditions. We are, therefore, subject to increased exposure (positive or negative) to economic and other competitive factors specific to protected markets in confined geographic areas. Our operations may also be affected if too many competing properties are built in any of these markets. An economic downturn in any of these markets could adversely affect our operations and our ability to make distributions to stockholders. We cannot assure you that these markets will continue to grow or remain favorable to the life science industry.

### We May Have Difficulty Managing Our Growth

We expect to continue to grow by acquiring, redeveloping and selectively developing additional properties. To manage our growth effectively, we must successfully integrate new properties into our existing operations. We may not succeed with the integration. In addition, we may not effectively manage new properties, and new properties may not perform as expected. Our business could be adversely affected if we are unsuccessful in managing our growth.

### Our Debt Service Obligations May Have Adverse Consequences On Our Business Operations

We use debt to finance our operations, including acquisitions of properties. Our use of debt may have adverse consequences, including the following:

our cash flow from operations may be not be sufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest.

we may be forced to dispose of one or more of our properties, possibly on disadvantageous terms, to make payments on our debt.

we may default on our debt obligations, and the lenders or mortgagees may foreclose on our properties that secure those loans.

a foreclosure on one of our properties could create taxable income without any accompanying cash proceeds to pay the tax.

we may default under a mortgage loan, causing us to automatically default on another loan that has cross default provisions.

we may not be able to refinance or extend our existing debt.

the terms of any refinancing or extension may not be as favorable as the terms of our existing debt.

As of March 31, 2002, we had outstanding mortgage indebtedness of approximately \$246.3 million, secured by 29 properties, and outstanding debt under our unsecured line of credit and term loan of approximately \$273 million.

# Our Line Of Credit Restricts Our Ability To Engage In Some Business Activities

Our unsecured revolving credit facility contains customary negative covenants and other financial and operating covenants that, among other things:

restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness.

restrict our ability to make certain investments.

restrict our ability to merge with another company.

restrict our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

require us to maintain financial coverage ratios.

require us to maintain a pool of unencumbered assets approved by the lenders.

These restrictions could cause us to default on our line of credit or negatively affect our operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

# We May Not Be Able To Obtain Additional Capital To Further Our Business Objectives

Our ability to acquire or develop properties depends upon our ability to obtain capital. Periodically, the real estate industry experiences reduced supplies of favorably priced public equity or debt capital, which decreases the level of new investment activity by publicly traded real estate companies. A prolonged period in which we cannot effectively access public equity or debt markets may result in heavier reliance on alternative financing sources to undertake new investments. An inability to obtain equity or debt capital on acceptable terms could delay or prevent us from acquiring, structuring and completing desirable investments, which would adversely affect our business. Also, the issuance of additional shares of capital stock or interests in subsidiaries to fund future operations could dilute the ownership of then existing stockholders.

### If Interest Rates Rise, Our Debt Service Costs Will Increase

Borrowings outstanding under our unsecured line of credit and certain other borrowings bear interest at a variable rate, and we may incur additional variable rate debt in the future. Increases in market interest rates would increase our interest expenses under these debt instruments and would increase the costs of refinancing existing indebtedness or obtaining new debt. Accordingly, these increases could adversely affect our financial position and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

# We May Not Be Able To Acquire Properties Or Operate Them Successfully

Our success depends in large part upon our ability to acquire additional properties on satisfactory terms and to operate them successfully. If we are unable to do so, our business could be adversely affected. In addition, the acquisition of life science facilities generally involves a higher per square foot price than the acquisition of traditional suburban office properties.

The acquisition, ownership and operation of real estate is subject to many risks that may adversely affect our business and our ability to make payments to stockholders, including the risks that:

our properties may not perform as we expect.
we may not be able to acquire a desired property because of competition from other real estate investors with significant capital.
we may lease space at rates below our expectations.
we may not be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms.
we may overpay for new acquisitions.
we may underestimate the cost of improvements required to bring an acquired property up to standards established for the market position intended for that property.

### We May Not Be Able To Complete Redevelopment And Development Projects Effectively

Our redevelopment and	development	activities subj	ect us to man	ıy risks, i	ncluding:

possible delays in construction.	
oudget overruns.	
increasing costs of materials.	
financing availability.	
volatility in interest rates.	

labor availability.
timing of the commencement of rental payments.
delays or denials of entitlements or permits.
other property-development uncertainties.

In addition, expansion and development activities, regardless of whether they are ultimately successful, typically require a substantial portion of management's time and attention. This may distract management from focusing on other operational activities. If we are unable to complete expansion and development projects successfully, our business may be adversely affected.

If Our Revenues Are Less Than Our Expenses, We May Have To Borrow Additional Funds And We May Not Make Distributions To Our Stockholders

If our properties do not generate revenues sufficient to meet our operating expenses, including debt service and other capital expenditures, we may need to borrow additional amounts to cover fixed costs and cash flow needs. This could adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Factors that could adversely affect the revenues from and the value of our properties include:

national and local economic conditions.
competition from other life science facilities.
changes in the life science industry.
real estate conditions in our target markets.
our ability to collect rent payments.
availability of financing.
changes in interest rate levels.
vacancies at our properties and our ability to release space.
changes in tax or regulatory laws.
costs of compliance with government regulation.
lack of liquidity of real estate investments.
increased operating costs.
In addition, if a lease at a property is not a triple net lease, we will have greater expenses associated with that property and greater exposure to increases in such expenses. Significant expenditures, such as mortgage payments, real estate taxes, insurance and maintenance costs, generall are fixed and do not decrease when revenues at the related property decrease.
Improvements To Life Science Facilities Are More Costly Than Traditional Office Spaces
Our properties contain generic infrastructure improvements that are more costly than those for other property types. Although we have historically been able to recover the additional investment in generic infrastructure improvements through higher rental rates, there is the risk that we will be able to continue to do so in the future. Typical improvements include:

reinforced concrete floors.

upgraded roof loading capacity.

increased floor to ceiling height.
heavy-duty HVAC systems.
enhanced environmental control technology.
significantly upgraded electrical, gas and plumbing infrastructure.
laboratory benches.
7

### We May Not Be Able To Sell Our Properties Quickly To Raise Money

Investments in real estate are relatively illiquid. Accordingly, we may not be able to sell our properties when we desire or at acceptable prices in response to changes in economic or other conditions. In addition, the Internal Revenue Code limits our ability to sell properties held for fewer than four years. These limitations on our ability to sell our properties may adversely affect our cash flows and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

### We Face Substantial Competition In Our Target Markets

The significant competition for business in our target markets could have an adverse effect on our operations. We compete for investment opportunities with:

insurance companies.
pension and investment funds.
partnerships.
developers.
investment companies.
other REITs.
owner/occupants.

Many of these entities have substantially greater financial resources than we do and may be able to accept more risk than we are willing to accept. These entities may be less sensitive to risks with respect to the creditworthiness of a tenant or the geographic proximity of its investments. Competition may also reduce the number of suitable investment opportunities available to us or may increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell.

### Our Properties May Have Defects That Are Unknown To Us

Although we review the physical condition of our properties before they are acquired, and on a periodic basis after acquisition, any of our properties may have characteristics or deficiencies unknown to us that could adversely affect the property's valuation or revenue potential.

# If We Fail To Qualify As A REIT, We Would Be Taxed At Corporate Rates And Would Not Be Able To Take Certain Deductions When Computing Our Taxable Income

If in any taxable year we fail to qualify as a REIT:

we would be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates.

we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing taxable income.

unless we were entitled to relief under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Internal Revenue Code"), we would also be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which we lost qualification.

we would no longer be required by the Internal Revenue Code to make any distributions to our stockholders.

As a result of the additional tax liability, we might need to borrow funds or liquidate certain investments in order to pay the applicable tax. Accordingly, funds available for investment or distribution to our stockholders would be reduced for each of the years involved.

8

Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Internal Revenue Code to our operations and the determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control. There are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations of these provisions. Although we believe that we have operated, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1996, in a manner so as to qualify as a REIT, we cannot assure you that we are or will remain so qualified.

In addition, although we are not aware of any pending tax legislation that would adversely affect our ability to operate as a REIT, new legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations or court decisions could change the tax laws or interpretations of the tax laws regarding qualification as a REIT, or the federal income tax consequences of that qualification, in a manner that is adverse to our stockholders.

Although certain of our officers and directors have extensive experience in the acquisition, leasing, operation, financing and development of real properties, prior to commencement of our operations, no officer had significant experience in operating a business in accordance with the requirements for maintaining qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code.

### There Are Limits On The Ownership Of Our Capital Stock Under Which A Stockholder May Lose Beneficial Ownership Of Its Shares

The Internal Revenue Code provides that, in order for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT, not more than 50% of the value of our outstanding capital stock may be owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer individuals or entities.

In addition, our charter prohibits, with certain limited exceptions, direct or constructive ownership of shares of our capital stock representing more than 9.8% of the combined total value of the outstanding shares of our capital stock by any person (the "Ownership Limit"). Our Board of Directors may exempt a stockholder from the Ownership Limit if, prior to the exemption, our Board of Directors receives all information it deems necessary to determine or ensure our status as a REIT.

The constructive ownership rules are complex and may cause shares of our common stock owned directly or constructively by a group of related individuals or entities to be constructively owned by one individual or entity. A transfer of shares to a person who, as a result of the transfer, violates the Ownership Limit may be void or may be deemed to be made to a trust, for the benefit of one or more qualified charitable organizations designated by us. In that case, the intended transferee will have only a right to share, to the extent of the transferee's original purchase price for such shares, in proceeds from the trust's sale of those shares.

### In Addition To The Ownership Limit, Certain Provisions Of Our Charter And Bylaws And Our Stockholders Rights Plan May Delay Or Prevent Transactions That May Be Deemed To Be Desirable

As authorized by Maryland law, our charter allows our Board of Directors to cause us to issue additional authorized but unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and to classify or reclassify unissued shares of common or preferred stock without any stockholder approval. Our Board of Directors could establish series of preferred stock that could delay, defer or prevent a transaction that might involve a premium price for our common stock or for other reasons be desired by our common stockholders or that have a dividend preference which may adversely affect our ability to pay dividends on our common stock.

Our charter permits the removal of a director only upon a two-thirds vote of the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors and our bylaws require advance notice of a stockholder's intention to nominate directors or present business for consideration by stockholders at an annual meeting of our stockholders. Our charter and bylaws also contain other provisions that may delay,

defer, or prevent a transaction or change in control that involves a premium price for our common stock or that for other reasons may be desired by our stockholders. See "Provisions Of Maryland Law And Of Our Charter And Bylaws," " Control Share Acquisitions," " Amendment To Our Charter Or Bylaws" and " Advance Notice Of Director Nominations And New Business."

Under our Stockholder Rights Plan, if a stockholder acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our common stock, other stockholders would become entitled to purchase our common stock at half the market price, which would likely result in substantial dilution to the 15% or greater stockholder. This may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control or other transaction that might involve a premium price for our common stock or for other reasons desired by our common stockholders.

### Our Insurance May Not Adequately Cover All Potential Losses

If we experience a loss at any of our properties that is not covered by insurance or that exceeds our insurance policy limits, we could lose the capital invested in the affected property and, possibly, future revenues from that property. In addition, we would continue to be obligated on any mortgage indebtedness or other obligations related to the affected properties. We carry comprehensive liability, fire, extended coverage and rental loss insurance with respect to our properties. We have obtained earthquake insurance for all of our properties because many of them are located in the vicinity of active earthquake faults. We also carry environmental remediation insurance and have title insurance policies on all of our properties. We obtain our title insurance policies when we acquire the property, with each policy covering an amount equal to the initial purchase price of each property. Accordingly, any of our title insurance policies may be in an amount less than the current value of the related property.

We believe that our insurance policy specifications, insured limits and deductibles are consistent with or superior to those customarily carried for similar properties. Our tenants are also required to maintain comprehensive insurance, including liability and casualty insurance, that is customarily obtained for similar properties. There are, however, certain types of losses that we and our tenants do not generally insure against because they are uninsurable or because it is not economical to insure against them. In the current market, there have recently been substantial increases in the premium cost of property and liability insurance, and availability of coverage against terrorist activity has become more limited and, when available, is at a significantly higher premium cost. We cannot predict whether insurance coverage against terrorist activities will remain available for our properties, most, but not all, of which are low rise buildings in suburban areas.

### We Could Incur Significant Costs Complying With Environmental Laws

Federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations may require us, as a current or prior owner or operator of real estate, to investigate and clean up hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products released at or from any of our properties. The cost of investigating and cleaning up contamination could be substantial and could exceed the amount of any environmental remediation insurance coverage available to us. In addition, the presence of contamination, or the failure to clean it up properly, may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent an affected property or to borrow funds using that property as collateral.

Under environmental laws and regulations, we may have to pay governmental entities or third parties for property damage and for investigation and clean-up costs incurred by those parties relating to contaminated properties regardless of whether we knew of or caused the contamination. Even if more than one person may have been responsible for the contamination, we may be held responsible for all of the clean-up costs. In addition, third parties may sue us for damages and costs resulting from

environmental contamination or jointly responsible parties may contest their responsibility or be financially unable to pay their share of such costs.

Environmental laws also govern the presence, maintenance and removal of asbestos-containing materials. These laws may impose fines and penalties on us for the release of asbestos-containing materials and may allow third parties to seek recovery from us for personal injury from exposure to asbestos fibers. We have detected asbestos-containing materials at some of our properties, but we do not expect that it will result in material environmental costs or liabilities to us.

Environmental laws and regulations also require the removal or upgrading of certain underground storage tanks and regulate:

the discharge of storm water, wastewater and any water pollutants.

the emission of air pollutants.

the generation, management and disposal of hazardous or toxic chemicals, substances or wastes.

workplace health and safety.

Some of our tenants routinely handle hazardous substances and wastes as part of their operations at our properties. Environmental laws and regulations subject our tenants, and potentially us, to liability resulting from these activities. Environmental liabilities could also affect a tenant's ability to make rental payments to us. We require our tenants to comply with these environmental laws and regulations and to indemnify us for any related liabilities.

Independent environmental consultants have conducted Phase I or similar environmental assessments at all of our properties. We intend to use consultants to conduct similar environmental assessments on our future acquisitions. This type of assessment generally includes a site inspection, interviews and a public records review, but no subsurface sampling. These assessments and certain additional investigations of our properties have not to date revealed any environmental liability that we believe would have a material adverse effect on our business or results of operations. The additional investigations included, as appropriate:

asbestos surveys.
radon surveys.
lead surveys.
additional public records review.
subsurface sampling.
other testing.

Nevertheless, it is possible that the assessments on our properties have not revealed, or that the assessments on future acquisitions will not reveal, all environmental liabilities. Consequently, there may be material environmental liabilities of which we are unaware that may result in substantial costs to us or our tenants and that could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We May Incur Significant Costs Complying With The Americans With Disabilities Act And Similar Laws

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act, places of public accommodation and/or commercial facilities are required to meet federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. We may be required to make substantial capital expenditures at our properties to comply with this law. In addition, our noncompliance could result in the imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants.

A number of additional federal, state and local laws and regulations exist regarding access by disabled persons. These regulations may require modifications to our properties or may affect future renovations. This may limit the overall returns on our investments.

We believe that our properties are substantially in compliance with the present requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act and similar laws.

# We May Incur Significant Costs If We Fail To Comply With Laws Or If Laws Change

Our properties are subject to many federal, state and local regulatory requirements and to state and local fire and life-safety requirements. If we do not comply with all of these requirements, we may have to pay fines to governmental authorities or damage awards to private litigants. We believe that our properties are currently in compliance with all of these regulatory requirements. We do not know whether these requirements will change or whether new requirements will be imposed. Changes in these regulatory requirements could require us to make significant unanticipated expenditures. These expenditures could have an adverse effect on us and our ability to make distributions to stockholders.

### The Loss Of Services Of Any Of Our Executive Officers Could Adversely Affect Us

We depend upon the services of relatively few executive officers. The loss of services of any one of them may adversely affect our business, financial condition and prospects. We use the extensive personal and business relationships that members of our management have developed over time with owners of life science facilities and with major life science industry tenants. We have employment agreements with all of our executive officers, but cannot assure you that they will remain employed with us.

### We May Change Our Business Policies Without Stockholder Approval

Our Board of Directors determines all of our business policies, with management's input, including our:

status as a REIT.
investment initiatives.
growth management.
debt incurrence.
general financing.
acquisition and selective development activities.
stockholder distributions.
operations.

Our Board of Directors may amend or revise these policies at any time without a vote of our stockholders. A change in these policies could adversely affect our business and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

# We Could Become Highly Leveraged And Our Debt Service Obligations Could Increase

Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of debt that we may incur. Therefore, we could become highly leveraged. This would result in an increase in our debt service obligations that could adversely affect our cash flow and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We have adopted a policy of incurring debt only if upon such incurrence our debt to total market capitalization ratio would not exceed 57.5%. Our total market capitalization is the market value of our capital stock, including interests exchangeable for shares of capital stock, plus total debt. Our Board of Directors could, however, change or eliminate this policy at any time. Higher leverage would also increase the risk of default on our debt obligations.

### Our Distributions To Stockholders May Decline At Any Time

We may not continue our current level of distributions to stockholders. Our Board of Directors will determine future distributions based on a number of factors, including:

our financial condition.

any decision by our Board of Directors to reinvest funds rather than to distribute such funds.

our capital expenditures.

the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

other factors our Board of Directors deems relevant.

### Possible Future Sales Of Shares Of Our Common Stock Could Adversely Affect The Market Price Of Our Common Stock

We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future sales of shares of our common stock on the market price of our common stock from time to time. Sales of substantial amounts of capital stock (including common stock issued upon the exercise of stock options), or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices for our common stock. We have reserved for issuance to our officers, directors and employees pursuant to our Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the "Plan") that number of shares of our common stock that equals 12% of the total number of shares outstanding at any time, provided that in no event may the number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the Plan exceed 3,000,000 shares at any time. As of March 31, 2002, options to purchase 916,203 shares of our common stock were outstanding, of which options to purchase 518,206 shares of our common stock were exercisable.

#### USE OF PROCEEDS

Unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, the net proceeds from the sale of the Securities will be used to reduce the outstanding balance on our unsecured line of credit or other borrowings or for general corporate purposes. If initially used to pay down our line of credit, we may then borrow from time to time under the line of credit to provide funds for general working capital and other corporate purposes, including the acquisition of additional life science facilities and the redevelopment or development of existing or new properties. As of March 31, 2002, we had \$223 million of borrowings outstanding on our unsecured line of credit at a weighted average interest rate of 3.61%. The unsecured line of credit, under which Fleet National Bank acts as manager for a syndicate of lenders, matures in February 2003 and provides for an extension (provided there is no default) of an additional one-year period upon notice from us and the consent of the participating lenders.

#### RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Our ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends were 1.40, 1.36, 1.38, 1.62 and 2.06 for the three months ended March 31, 2002 and the years ended 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. We completed our initial public offering on June 2, 1997. Fixed charges exceeded earnings in 1997 by \$5.9 million.

We compute the ratios of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends by dividing earnings by combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends. For this purpose, earnings consist of earnings before interest expense, amortization of deferred financing and write-off of unamortized loan costs. Fixed charges consist of interest incurred (including amortization of deferred financing costs and capitalized interest) and write-off of unamortized loan costs.

#### DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following summary of the terms of our capital stock does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to Maryland law and our charter and bylaws. See "Additional Information."

#### General

Our charter provides that we may issue up to 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, 100,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock and 200,000,000 shares of Excess Stock (as defined below). Of the Preferred Stock, 1,610,000 shares are classified as 9.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, or Series A Preferred Stock, 2,300,000 shares are classified as 9.10% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, or Series B Preferred Stock, and 500,000 shares are classified as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. As of March 31, 2002, 16,841,445 shares of Common Stock were issued and outstanding and 1,543,500 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and 2,300,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding. Under Maryland law, stockholders generally are not liable for a corporation's debts or obligations.

#### **Common Stock**

All shares of Common Stock offered hereby will be duly authorized, fully paid and non-assessable. Subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of stock and to the provisions of our charter regarding restrictions on transfer of our stock, holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends on such shares if, as and when authorized and declared by our Board of Directors out of assets legally available therefor and to share ratably in our assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up after payment of or adequate provision for all our known debts and liabilities.

Subject to the provisions of our charter regarding the restrictions on transfer of our stock, each outstanding share of Common Stock entitles the holder thereof to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders, including the election of directors, and, except as provided with respect to any other class or series of stock, the holders of such shares will possess the exclusive voting power. A plurality of all the votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present is sufficient to elect a director. There is no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which means that the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock can elect all of the directors then standing for election, and the holders of the remaining shares will not be able to elect any directors.

Holders of shares of Common Stock have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund, or appraisal rights and have no preemptive rights to subscribe for any of our securities. Subject to the provisions of our charter regarding restriction on transfer of our stock, shares of Common Stock will each have equal distribution, liquidation and other rights.

Under the Maryland General Corporation Law (the "MGCL"), a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, sell all or substantially all of its assets, engage in a share exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of business unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter unless a lesser percentage (but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter) is set forth in the corporation's charter. Our charter provides for approval of such matters by the affirmative vote of a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast thereon.

Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors to reclassify any unissued shares of Common Stock into other classes or series of classes of stock and to establish the number of shares in each class or series and to set the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as

to dividends or other distributions, qualifications or terms or conditions of redemption for each such class or series.

#### **Transfer Agent And Registrar**

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

#### **Preferred Stock**

Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors, without the approval of our stockholders, to classify any unissued shares of Preferred Stock and to reclassify any previously classified but unissued shares of any series, as authorized by our Board of Directors. Prior to the issuance of shares of each series, our Board of Directors is required by the MGCL and our charter to set, subject to the provisions of our charter regarding restrictions on transfer of our stock, the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each such series, all of which will be set forth in articles supplementary to our charter adopted for that purpose by our Board of Directors or a duly authorized special committee thereof. Using this authority, our Board of Directors could authorize the issuance of shares of Preferred Stock with terms and conditions which could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of Common Stock or for other reasons be desired by them.

Upon issuance against full payment of the purchase price therefor, shares of Preferred Stock will be fully paid and nonassessable. The specific terms of a particular class or series of Preferred Stock to be offered pursuant hereto will be described in the Prospectus Supplement relating to that class or series, including a Prospectus Supplement providing that Preferred Stock may be issuable upon the exercise of Warrants issued by us. The description of Preferred Stock set forth below and the description of the terms of a particular class or series of Preferred Stock set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the articles supplementary relating to that class or series.

Rank. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, the Preferred Stock will, with respect to dividend rights and rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, rank (i) senior to all classes or series of our Common Stock, and to all our equity securities ranking junior to such Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up; (ii) on a parity with all equity securities authorized or designated by us, the terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank on a parity with the Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up; and (iii) junior to all our existing and future indebtedness and to any class or series of equity securities authorized or designated by us, the terms of which specifically provide that such equity securities rank senior to the Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up.

Conversion Rights. The terms and conditions, if any, upon which any shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock are convertible into Common Stock will be set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement relating thereto. Such terms will include the number of shares of Common Stock into which the shares of Preferred Stock are convertible, the conversion price (or manner of calculation thereof), the conversion period, provisions as to whether conversion will be at the option of the holders of such class or series of Preferred Stock or us, the events requiring an adjustment of the conversion price and provisions affecting conversion in the event of the redemption of such class or series of Preferred Stock.

#### Power To Issue Additional Shares Of Common Stock And Preferred Stock

We believe that the power of our Board of Directors to issue additional authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock and to classify or reclassify unissued shares of Common Stock or Preferred Stock and thereafter to cause us to issue such classified or reclassified shares of stock will provide us with increased flexibility in structuring possible future financing and acquisition transactions and in meeting other needs that may arise. The additional classes or series of Preferred Stock, as well as the Common Stock, will be available for issuance without further action by our stockholders, unless such action is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded. Although our Board of Directors has no present intention to do so, it could authorize us to issue a class or series of stock that could, depending upon the terms of such class or series, delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of Common Stock or for other reasons be desired by them.

#### **Restrictions On Ownership And Transfer**

In order to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, not more than 50% of the value of our outstanding stock may be owned, directly or constructively, by five or fewer individuals or entities (as set forth in the Internal Revenue Code) during the last half of a taxable year (other than the first year for which an election to be a REIT has been made). Also, shares of our outstanding stock must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months (other than the first year for which an election to be a REIT has been made) or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year.

In order for us to maintain our qualification as a REIT, our charter provides for an Ownership Limit, which prohibits, with certain exceptions, direct or constructive ownership of shares of stock representing more than 9.8% of the combined total value of our outstanding shares of stock by any person, as defined in our charter.

Our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, may waive the Ownership Limit for any person. However, our Board may not grant such waiver if, after giving effect to such waiver, five individuals could beneficially own, in the aggregate, more than 49.9% of the value of our outstanding stock. As a condition to waiving the Ownership Limit, our Board of Directors may require a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service or an opinion of counsel in order to determine our status as a REIT. Notwithstanding the receipt of any such ruling or opinion, our Board of Directors may impose such conditions or restrictions as it deems appropriate in connection with granting such waiver.

Our charter further prohibits (a) any person from beneficially or constructively owning shares of our stock that would result in us being "closely held" under Section 856(h) of the Internal Revenue Code and (b) any person from transferring shares of our stock if such transfer would result in shares of our stock being owned by fewer than 100 persons. Any transfer in violation of any of such restrictions is void ab initio. Any person who acquires or attempts to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of shares of our stock in violation of the foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership is required to give us notice immediately and provide us with such other information as we may request in order to determine the effect of such transfer on our status as a REIT. The foregoing restrictions on transferability and ownership will not apply if our Board of Directors determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify, or to attempt to qualify, as a REIT.

If any transfer of shares of our stock or other event occurs that would result in any person beneficially or constructively becoming the owner of shares of our stock in excess or in violation of the above transfer or ownership limitations (a "Prohibited Owner"), then that number of shares of our stock the beneficial or constructive ownership of which otherwise would cause such person to violate such limitations (rounded up to the nearest whole share) shall be automatically exchanged for an equal

number of shares of excess stock (the "Excess Stock") and such shares of Excess Stock shall be automatically transferred to a trust (the "Trust") for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries (the "Charitable Beneficiary"), and the Prohibited Owner shall generally not acquire any rights in such shares. Such automatic exchange shall be deemed to be effective as of the close of business on the business day prior to the date of such violative transfer. Shares of Excess Stock held in the Trust shall be issued and outstanding shares of our stock. The Prohibited Owner shall not benefit economically from ownership of any shares of Excess Stock held in the Trust, shall have no rights to distributions thereon and shall not possess any rights to vote or other rights attributable to the shares of Excess Stock held in the Trust. The trustee of the Trust (the "Trustee") shall have all voting rights and rights to dividends or other distributions with respect to shares of stock held in the Trust, which rights shall be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. Any dividend or other distribution paid prior to the discovery by us that shares of stock have been transferred to the Trustee shall be paid by the recipient of such dividend or distribution to us upon demand, or, at our sole election, shall be offset against any future dividends or distributions payable to the purported transferee or holder, and any dividend or distribution authorized but unpaid shall be rescinded as void ab initio with respect to such shares of stock and promptly thereafter paid over to the Trustee with respect to such shares of Excess Stock, as trustee of the Trust for the exclusive benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. The Prohibited Owner shall have no voting rights with respect to shares of Excess Stock held in the Trust and, subject to Maryland law, effective as of the date that such shares of stock have been transferred to the Trustee, the Trustee shall have the authority (at the Trustee's sole discretion) (i) to rescind as void any vote cast by a Prohibited Owner prior to the discovery by us that such shares have been transferred to the Trustee and (ii) to recast such vote in accordance with the desires of the Trustee acting for the benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the Trustee shall not have the authority to rescind and recast such vote.

Within 180 days after the date of the event that resulted in shares of our Excess Stock being transferred to the Trust (or as soon as possible thereafter if the Trustee did not learn of such event within such period), the Trustee shall sell the shares of stock held in the Trust to a person, designated by the Trustee, whose ownership of the shares will not violate the ownership limitations set forth in our charter. Upon such sale, the interest of the Charitable Beneficiary in the shares sold shall terminate and such shares of Excess Stock shall be automatically exchanged for an equal number of shares of the same class or series of stock that originally were exchanged for the Excess Stock. The Trustee shall distribute to the Prohibited Owner, as appropriate (i) the price paid by the Prohibited Owner for the shares, (ii) if the Prohibited Owner did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the shares to be held in the Trust (e.g., a gift, devise or other such transaction), the Market Price (as defined in our charter) of such shares on the day of the event causing the shares to be held in the Trust, or (iii) if the exchange for Excess Stock did not arise as a result of a purported transfer, the Market Price of such shares on the day of the other event causing the shares to be held in the Trust. If such shares are sold by a Prohibited Owner, then to the extent that the Prohibited Owner received an amount for such shares that exceeds the amount that such Prohibited Owner was entitled to receive pursuant to the aforementioned requirement, such excess shall be paid to the Trustee.

All certificates representing shares of Common Stock and Preferred Stock will bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.

Every owner of more than 5% (or such lower percentage as may be required by our charter, the Internal Revenue Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder) of all classes or series of our stock, including shares of Common Stock, within 30 days after the end of each taxable year, is required to give written notice to us stating the name and address of such owner, the number of shares of each class and series of our stock which the owner beneficially owns and a description of the manner in which such shares are held. Each such owner must provide us such additional information as we may

reasonably request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such beneficial ownership on our status as a REIT. In addition, each stockholder will be required upon demand to provide us such information as we may reasonably request in order to determine our status as a REIT, to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance, or to comply with the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

These ownership limits could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for the holders of Common Stock or for other reasons be desired by them.

19

#### WARRANTS

We may issue Warrants for the purchase of Preferred Stock or Common Stock. Warrants may be issued independently or together with any other Securities offered by any Prospectus Supplement and may be attached to or separate from such Securities. Each series of Warrants will be issued under a separate warrant agreement to be entered into between us and a warrant agent specified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. The warrant agent will act solely as our agent in connection with the Warrants of such series and will not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any provisions of the Warrants offered hereby.

The applicable Prospectus Supplement will describe the terms of the Warrants in respect of which this Prospectus is being delivered, including, where applicable, the following: (1) the title of the Warrants; (2) the aggregate number of the Warrants; (3) the price or prices at which the Warrants will be issued; (4) the designation, terms and number of shares of Preferred Stock or Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Warrants; (5) the designation and terms of the Securities, if any, with which the Warrants are issued and the number of the Warrants issued with each such Security; (6) the date, if any, on and after which the Warrants and the related Preferred Stock or Common Stock will be separately transferable, including any limitations on ownership and transfer of the Warrants that may be appropriate to preserve our status as a REIT; (7) the price at which each share of Preferred Stock or Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of the Warrants may be purchased; (8) the date on which the right to exercise the Warrants will commence and the date on which such right relating to the Warrants expires; (9) the minimum or maximum amount of the Warrants which may be exercised at any one time; (10) information with respect to book-entry procedures applicable to the Warrants, if any; (11) a description of federal income tax consequences; and (12) any other terms of the Warrants, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the exchange and exercise of the Warrants.

# PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF OUR CHARTER AND BYLAWS

The following summary of certain provisions of Maryland law and of our charter and bylaws does not purport to be complete and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to Maryland law and our charter and bylaws. See "Additional Information."

#### **Board Of Directors**

Our bylaws provide that the number of our directors may be established by our Board of Directors, but may not be fewer than the minimum number required by the MGCL nor more than 15. Any vacancy may be filled, at any regular meeting or at any special meeting called for that purpose, by a majority of the remaining directors in office, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum. All directors are elected to hold office until the next annual meeting of our stockholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualify.

#### **Business Combinations**

Under the MGCL, certain "business combinations" (including a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in certain circumstances, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities) between a Maryland corporation and any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of the corporation's shares or an affiliate of the corporation who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then-outstanding voting stock of the corporation (an "Interested Stockholder") or an affiliate of such an Interested Stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the Interested Stockholder becomes an Interested Stockholder. Thereafter, any such business combination must be recommended by the board of directors of such corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least (i) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding shares of voting stock of the corporation and (ii) two thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the Interested Stockholder with whom (or with whose affiliate) the business combination is to be effected, unless, among other conditions, the corporation's common stockholders receive a minimum price (as defined in the MGCL) for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the Interested Stockholder for its shares. These provisions of the MGCL do not apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted by the board of directors of the corporation prior to the time that the Interested Stockholder becomes an Interested Stockholder. Our Board of Directors has adopted a resolution providing that the "business combination" provisions of the MGCL shall not apply to us generally and that such resolution is irrevocable unless revocation, in whole or in part, is approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, but revocation will not affect any business combination consummated, or any business combination contemplated by any agreement entered into, prior to the revocation. As a result of the foregoing, any person who becomes an Interested Stockholder may be able to enter into business combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of the stockholders, without our compliance with the business combination provisions of the MGCL.

#### **Control Share Acquisitions**

The MGCL provides that "control shares" of a Maryland corporation acquired in a "control share acquisition" have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares of stock owned by the acquiror, by officers or by directors who are employees of the corporation. "Control Shares" are voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other such shares of stock previously acquired by the acquiror or in respect of which the acquiror is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a

revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiror to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following ranges of voting power: (i) one-tenth or more but less than one-third, (ii) one-third or more but less than a majority, or (iii) a majority or more of all voting power. Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval. A "control share acquisition" means the acquisition of control shares, subject to certain exceptions.

Under Maryland law, a person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition, upon satisfaction of certain conditions (including an undertaking to pay expenses), may compel the board of directors of the corporation to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. If no request for a meeting is made, the corporation may itself present the question at any meeting of the stockholders.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the statute, then, subject to certain conditions and limitations, the corporation may redeem any or all of the control shares (except those for which voting rights have previously been approved) for fair value determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share acquisition by the acquiror or of any meeting of stockholders at which the voting rights of such shares are considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a meeting of the stockholders and the acquiror becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares as determined for purposes of such appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquiror in the control share acquisition.

The control share acquisition statute does not apply (i) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a party to the transaction or (ii) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation.

Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any acquisition by any person of shares of our stock. Our Board of Directors has resolved that, subject to Maryland law, this provision may not be amended or repealed without the approval of holders of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock. There can be no assurance, however, that the provision will not be amended or eliminated in the future or that the resolution is enforceable under Maryland law.

#### **Advance Notice Of Director Nominations And New Business**

Our bylaws provide that (i) with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of persons for election to our Board of Directors and the proposal of business to be considered by stockholders may be made only (a) pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (b) by or at the direction of our Board of Directors or (c) by a stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice procedures set forth in the bylaws and (ii) with respect to special meetings of stockholders, only the business specified in our notice of meeting may be brought before the meeting of stockholders and nominations of persons for election to our Board of Directors may be made only (a) pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (b) by or at the direction of our Board of Directors or (c) provided that our Board of Directors has determined that directors shall be elected at such meeting, by a stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice provisions set forth in the bylaws.

#### Amendment To Our Charter Or Bylaws

As permitted by the MGCL, our charter provides that it may be amended by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of votes entitled to be cast on the matter. The Board of Directors has the exclusive power to adopt, alter, repeal or amend our bylaws.

Our charter and bylaws provide that our stockholders may remove any director by a vote of not less than two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our charter and bylaws further provide that our Board of Directors may fill board vacancies and that any director elected to fill a vacancy may hold office for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred.

#### **Corporate Dissolution**

As permitted by the MGCL, our charter provides that our dissolution must be approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. See "Description of Capital Stock Common Stock."

#### Stockholder Rights Plan

We have adopted a stockholder rights plan (the "Rights Plan") which provides that one right to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value \$0.01 per share (the "Rights"), is attached to each outstanding share of our Common Stock. The Rights have certain anti-takeover effects and are intended to discourage coercive or unfair takeover tactics and to encourage any potential acquiror to negotiate a price fair for all stockholders with our Board of Directors. The Rights are intended to cause substantial dilution to an acquiring party that attempts to acquire us on terms not approved by our Board of Directors, but the Rights will not interfere with any merger or other business combination that is approved by our Board of Directors.

The Rights are not presently exercisable. The Rights, other than those held by the acquiring person, will separate from the Common Stock and become exercisable upon the earlier of (i) ten days following a public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons has acquired, or obtained the right to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our outstanding shares of Common Stock, or (ii) ten business days (or such later date as our Board of Directors shall determine) following the commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in a person or group acquiring beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our Common Stock.

Each Right entitles the holder to purchase one-hundredth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock for an exercise price that is currently \$120 per share. Once the Rights become exercisable, any Rights held by the acquiring party, and certain related persons, will be void, and all other holders of Rights will receive upon exercise of their Rights that number of shares of Common Stock having a market value of two times the exercise price of the Right. The Rights, which expire on February 10, 2010, may be redeemed at any time prior to the time a party becomes an acquiring person, for \$0.01 per Right. Until a Right is exercised, the holder of that Right will have no rights as a stockholder of ours, including, without limitation, the right to vote or receive dividends.

### Anti-Takeover Effect Of Provisions Of Maryland Law, Our Charter And Bylaws And Our Rights Plan

The possible future application of the business combination and control share acquisition provisions of the MGCL, the amendments to and advance notice provisions of our bylaws and our Rights Plan may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of Common Stock or for other reasons be desired by them.

#### FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following summary of material federal income tax considerations regarding an investment in the Securities is based on current law, is for general information only and is not tax advice. This summary does not purport to deal with all aspects of taxation that may be relevant to particular investors in light of their personal investment or tax circumstances, or, except to the extent discussed under the headings "Taxation of Tax-Exempt Stockholders" and "Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders," to certain types of investors (including insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, financial institutions or broker-dealers, foreign corporations and persons who are not citizens or residents of the U.S.) that are subject to special treatment under the federal income tax laws. This summary assumes that investors will hold the Securities as a "capital asset" (generally, property held for investment) under the Internal Revenue Code.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE SPECIFIC TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND SALE OF THE SECURITIES AND OF OUR ELECTION TO BE TAXED AS A REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST, INCLUDING THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND FOREIGN INCOME AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF SUCH PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP, SALE AND ELECTION, AND OF POTENTIAL CHANGES IN APPLICABLE TAX LAWS.

#### **Taxation Of Alexandria**

#### General

The REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code are highly technical and complex. The following sets forth the material aspects of the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code that govern the federal income tax treatment of a REIT and its stockholders. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the applicable Code provisions, rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all of which are subject to change and which changes may apply retroactively.

We intend to operate in a manner that will enable us to satisfy the requirements for taxation as a REIT under the applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. Although we believe that we are organized and operate in such a manner, we cannot assure you that we qualify or will remain qualified as a REIT. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex Internal Revenue Code provisions for which there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations. The determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. If we fail to qualify as a REIT, we will be subject to federal income tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. In addition, unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions, we will be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification is lost. The additional tax would significantly reduce the cash flow available for distributions to stockholders, which distributions would not be required to be made.

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1996, and intend to continue to operate in a manner consistent with such election and all rules with which a REIT must comply. We have received from Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw its opinion to the effect that, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31, 1996, we were organized and have operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, and that our proposed method of operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. It must be emphasized that this opinion is based and conditioned upon certain assumptions and representations made by us as to factual matters (including representations concerning, among other things, our business and properties, the amount of rents

attributable to personal property, the value of and income attributable to investments, and other items regarding our ability to meet the various requirements for qualification as a REIT). The opinion is expressed as of its date, and Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw has undertaken no obligation to advise holders of Securities of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed or any subsequent change in the applicable law. Moreover, qualification and taxation as a REIT depends upon our having met and continuing to meet, through actual annual operating results, distribution levels and diversity of stock ownership, the various qualification tests imposed under the Internal Revenue Code discussed below, the results of which will not be reviewed by Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw. The Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw opinion relies, in part, on an opinion issued by Skadden, Arps, Slate & Meagher & Flom LLP, which firm previously served as our tax counsel.

In any year in which we qualify as a REIT we will not be subject to federal income tax on that portion of our REIT taxable income or capital gain which is distributed to our stockholders. We may, however, be subject to tax at normal corporate rates upon any taxable income or capital gain not distributed. To the extent that we elect to retain and pay income tax on our net long-term capital gain, stockholders are required to include their proportionate share of the undistributed long-term capital gain in income but receive a credit for their share of any taxes paid on such gain by us.

Notwithstanding our qualification as a REIT, we may also be subject to taxation in other circumstances. If we should fail to satisfy either the 75% or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, and nonetheless maintain our qualification as a REIT because other requirements are met, we will be subject to a 100% tax on the greater of the amount by which we fail to satisfy either the 75% test or the 95% test, multiplied by a fraction intended to reflect our profitability. We will also be subject to a tax of 100% on net income from any "prohibited transaction", as described below, and if we have net income from the sale or other disposition of "foreclosure property" which is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or other non-qualifying income from foreclosure property, we will be subject to tax on such income from foreclosure property at the highest corporate rate. We will also be subject to a tax of 100% on the amount of any rents from real property, deductions or excess interest that would be reapportioned under Section 482 of the Internal Revenue Code to "taxable REIT subsidiaries" in order to more clearly reflect income of the taxable REIT subsidiary. A taxable REIT subsidiary is any corporation (or an unincorporated entity that is treated as an association taxable as a corporation under the Internal Revenue Code) for which a joint election has been made by a REIT and such corporation to treat such corporation as a taxable REIT subsidiary with respect to such REIT. We have not made an election to treat any entity in which we own an interest as a taxable REIT subsidiary. See "Other Tax Considerations Investments in taxable REIT subsidiaries". In addition, if we should fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of:

- (1) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year;
- (2) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year, other than capital gains we elect to retain and pay tax on as described below; and
  - (3) any undistributed taxable income from prior years,

we would be subject to a 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the amounts actually distributed. To the extent that we elect to retain and pay income tax on our long-term capital gain, such retained amounts will be treated as having been distributed for purposes of the 4% excise tax.

A REIT is permitted to designate in a notice mailed to stockholders within 60 days of the end of the taxable year, or in a notice mailed with its annual report for the taxable year, the amount of undistributed net long-term capital gains it received during the taxable year, which its stockholders are to include in their taxable income as long-term capital gains. Thus, if we made this designation, our stockholders would be required to include in their income as long-term capital gains their

proportionate share of the undistributed net capital gains as designated by us, and we would have to pay the tax on such gains within 30 days of the close of our taxable year. Each of our stockholders would be deemed to have paid such stockholder's share of the tax paid by us on such gains, which tax would be credited or refunded to the stockholder. A stockholder would increase his tax basis in his shares by the difference between the amount of income to the holder resulting from the designation less the holder's credit or refund for the tax paid by us. We may also be subject to the corporate "alternative minimum tax", as well as tax in various situations and on some types of transactions not presently contemplated. We will use the calendar year both for federal income tax purposes and for financial reporting purposes.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must meet, among others, the following requirements:

#### Share Ownership Test

Our shares must be held by a minimum of 100 persons for at least 335 days in each taxable year or a proportional number of days in any short taxable year. In addition, at all times during the second half of each taxable year, no more than 50% in value of our shares may be owned, directly or indirectly and by applying constructive ownership rules, by five or fewer individuals, which for this purpose includes certain tax-exempt entities. Any stock held by a qualified domestic pension or other retirement trust will be treated as held directly by its beneficiaries in proportion to their actuarial interest in such trust rather than by such trust. For taxable years beginning after August 5, 1997, if we comply with the Treasury regulations for ascertaining our actual ownership and did not know, or exercising reasonable diligence would not have reason to know, that more than 50% in value of our outstanding shares of stock were held, actually or constructively, by five or fewer individuals, then we will be treated as meeting this share ownership requirement.

To ensure compliance with the 50% share ownership test, we have placed restrictions on the transfer of the shares of our stock to prevent concentration of ownership. Moreover, to evidence compliance with these requirements, under the Treasury regulations we must maintain records which disclose the actual ownership of our outstanding shares of stock and such regulations impose penalties against us for failing to do so. In fulfilling our obligation to maintain records, we must and will demand written statements each year from the record holders of designated percentages of shares of our stock disclosing the actual owners of such shares as prescribed by Treasury regulations. A list of those persons failing or refusing to comply with such demand must be maintained as a part of our records. A stockholder failing or refusing to comply with our written demand must submit with his or her tax returns a similar statement disclosing the actual ownership of shares of our stock and other information. In addition, our charter provides restrictions regarding the transfer of shares that are intended to assist us in continuing to satisfy the share ownership requirements. We intend to enforce the percentage limitations on ownership of shares of our stock to assure that our qualification as a REIT will not be compromised.

#### Asset Tests

At the close of each quarter of our taxable year, we must satisfy tests relating to the nature of our assets determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Where we invest in the equity of a partnership or limited liability company treated for federal income tax purposes as a partnership or disregarded entity, we will be deemed to own a proportionate share of the partnership's or limited liability company's assets. First, at least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by interests in real property, interests in mortgages on real property, shares in other REITs, cash, cash items, and government securities, and qualified temporary investments. Second, although the remaining 25% of our assets generally may be invested without restriction, we are prohibited from owning securities representing more than 10% of either the vote or the value of the outstanding securities of any corporation other than a qualified REIT subsidiary, another REIT or a

taxable REIT subsidiary. Further, no more than 20% of the value of our total assets may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries and no more than 5% of the value of our total assets may be represented by securities of any non-government issuer other than a taxable REIT subsidiary.

Notwithstanding the general rule that a REIT is treated as owning its share of the underlying assets of a partnership or limited liability company taxed as a partnership for purposes of the REIT asset tests and gross income tests (described below), if a REIT holds debt securities issued by a partnership or limited liability company treated for federal income tax purposes as a partnership, the debt securities will be subject to (and could cause a violation of) the asset tests, resulting in the loss of REIT status, unless it is a qualifying mortgage asset or satisfies specified rules for "straight debt."

We currently hold and expect to continue to selectively acquire and hold securities of various issuers. While we do not anticipate that our securities holdings would result in a violation of the REIT assets tests, fluctuations in value and other circumstances existing from time to time may increase our risk under the asset tests.

#### Gross Income Tests

There are currently two separate percentage tests relating to the sources of our gross income which must be satisfied for each taxable year. For purposes of these tests, where we invest in the equity of a partnership or limited liability company treated for federal income tax purposes as a partnership or disregarded entity, we will be treated as receiving our share of the income and loss of the partnership or limited liability company, and the gross income of the partnership or limited liability company will retain the same character in our hands as it has in the hands of the partnership or limited liability company. The two tests are as follows:

- A. The 75% Test. At least 75% of our gross income (excluding gross income from "prohibited transactions") for the taxable year must be "qualifying income". Qualifying income generally includes:
  - (1) rents from real property, except as modified below;
  - (2) interest on obligations secured by mortgages on, or interests in, real property;
  - (3) gains from the sale or other disposition of non-"dealer property", which means interests in real property and real estate mortgages, other than gain from property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our trade or business;
  - (4) dividends or other distributions on shares in other REITs, as well as gain from the sale of such shares;
  - abatements and refunds of real property taxes;
  - (6) income from the operation, and gain from the sale, of "foreclosure property", which means property acquired at or in lieu of a foreclosure of the mortgage secured by such property;
  - (7) commitment fees received for agreeing to make loans secured by mortgages on real property or to purchase or lease real property; and
  - (8) certain qualified temporary investment income attributable to the investment of new capital received by us in exchange for our shares during the one-year period following the receipt of such capital.

Rents received from a tenant will qualify as rents from real property in satisfying the 75% test or the 95% gross income test described below only if several conditions are met. First, rents

received by us will not qualify as rents from real property if we, or an owner of 10% or more of our stock, directly or constructively owns 10% or more of the total number of shares of all classes of stock of a tenant (or, in the case of any tenant which is not a corporation, 10% or more in the assets or net profits of such tenant) or 10% or more of the total value of shares of all classes of stock of a tenant, unless the tenant is a taxable REIT subsidiary of ours and certain other requirements are met with respect to the real property being rented.

Second, if rent attributable to personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property is greater than 15% of the total rent received under the lease, then the portion of rent attributable to such personal property will not qualify as rents from real property. The determination of whether an item of property constitutes real property or personal property under the REIT provisions of the Internal Revenue Code is subject to both legal and factual considerations and, as such, is subject to differing interpretations. Our accountants and counsel have advised us with respect to applicable considerations underlying such determination. After consulting with our accountants and counsel and considering such advice, we have reviewed our properties and have determined that rents attributable to personal property do not exceed 15% of the total rent with respect to any particular lease. Due to the specialized nature of our properties, however, there can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not assert that the rent attributable to personal property with respect to a particular lease is greater than 15% of the total rent with respect to such lease. If the Internal Revenue Service were successful, and the amount of such non-qualifying income, together with other non-qualifying income, exceeds 5% of our taxable income, we may fail to qualify as a REIT.

An amount received or accrued will not qualify as rents from real property or as interest income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests if it is based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person, although an amount received or accrued generally will not be excluded from "rents from real property" solely by reason of being based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales. Finally, for rents received to qualify as rents from real property, we generally must not furnish or render services to tenants, other than through a taxable REIT subsidiary, or an "independent contractor" from whom we derive no income, except that we may directly provide services that are "usually or customarily rendered" in connection with the rental of properties for occupancy only, or are not otherwise considered "rendered to the occupant for his convenience". A REIT is permitted to render a de minimis amount of impermissible services to tenants, or in connection with the management of property, and still treat amounts received with respect to that property as rents from real property. The amount received or accrued by the REIT during the taxable year for the impermissible services with respect to a property may not exceed 1% of all amounts received or accrued by the REIT directly or indirectly from the property. The amount received for any service or management operation for this purpose will be deemed to be not less than 150% of the direct cost of the REIT in furnishing or rendering the services to tenants through a taxable REIT subsidiary and still treat amounts otherwise received with respect to the property as rent from real property.

In addition, income and gain attributable to our securities holdings could result in failure to satisfy the 75% gross income test.

B. The 95% Test. In addition to deriving 75% of our gross income from the sources listed above, at least 95% of our gross income (excluding gross income from prohibited transactions) for the taxable year must be derived from the above-described qualifying income, or from dividends, interest or gains from the sale or other disposition of stock or other securities that are not dealer property. Dividends, other than on REIT shares, and interest on any

obligations not secured by an interest in real property are included for purposes of the 95% test, but not for purposes of the 75% test. In addition, payments to us under an interest rate swap, cap agreement, option, futures contract, forward rate agreement or any similar financial instrument entered into by us to hedge indebtedness incurred or to be incurred, and any gain from the sale or other disposition of these instruments, are treated as qualifying income for purposes of the 95% test, but not for purposes of the 75% test.

For purposes of determining whether we comply with the 75% and 95% income tests, gross income does not include income from prohibited transactions. A "prohibited transaction" is a sale of property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business, excluding foreclosure property, unless such property is held by the REIT for at least four years and other requirements relating to the number of properties sold in a year, their tax bases, and the cost of improvements made to the property are satisfied. See " Taxation of Alexandria General".

Even if we fail to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any taxable year, we may still qualify as a REIT for such year if we are entitled to relief under certain relief provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. These relief provisions will generally be available if:

- (1) our failure to comply was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect;
- (2) we report the nature and amount of each item of our income included in the tests on a schedule attached to our tax return; and
- (3) any incorrect information on this schedule is not due to fraud with intent to evade tax.

If these relief provisions apply, however, we will nonetheless be subject to a special tax upon the greater of the amount by which we fail either the 75% or 95% gross income test for that year.

#### Annual Distribution Requirements

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required to make distributions, other than capital gain dividends, to our stockholders each year in an amount at least equal to the sum of 90% of our REIT taxable income, computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction and REIT net capital gain, plus 90% of our net income after tax, if any, from foreclosure property, minus the sum of certain items of excess non-cash income. Such distributions must be made in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if declared before we timely file our tax return for such year and if paid on or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration. To the extent that we do not distribute all of our net capital gain or distribute at least 90%, but less than 100%, of our REIT taxable income, as adjusted, we will be subject to tax on the undistributed amount at regular capital gains or ordinary corporate tax rates, as the case may be. In any year, we may elect to retain, rather than distribute, our net capital gain and pay tax on such gain. If we make this election, our stockholders would include in their income as long-term capital gains their proportionate share of the undistributed net capital gains as designated by us, and we would have to pay the tax on such gains within 30 days of the close of our taxable year. Each of our stockholders would be deemed to have paid such stockholder's share of the tax paid by us on such gains, which tax would be credited or refunded to the stockholder. A stockholder would increase his tax basis in our stock by the difference between the amount of income to the holder resulting from the designation less the holder's credit or refund for the tax paid by us.

We intend to make timely distributions sufficient to satisfy the annual distribution requirements. It is possible that we may not have sufficient cash or other liquid assets to meet the 90% distribution requirement, due to timing differences between the actual receipt of income and actual payment of expenses on the one hand, and the inclusion of such income and deduction of such expenses in computing our REIT taxable income on the other hand and due to the receipt of non-cash items of income. To avoid any problem with the 90% distribution requirement, we will closely monitor the

relationship between our REIT taxable income and cash flow and, if necessary, intend to borrow funds in order to satisfy the distribution requirement. However, there can be no assurance that such borrowing would be available at such time.

If we fail to meet the 90% distribution requirement as a result of an adjustment to our tax return by the Internal Revenue Service, we may retroactively cure the failure by paying a "deficiency dividend", plus applicable penalties and interest, within a specified period.

Absence Of Earnings And Profits From Non-REIT Years

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must not have accumulated earnings and profits attributable to any non-REIT years. A REIT has until the close of its first taxable year in which it has non-REIT earnings and profits to distribute any such accumulated earnings and profits. Unless the "deficiency dividend" procedures described above apply and we comply with those procedures, failure to distribute such accumulated earnings and profits would result in our disqualification as a REIT. We believe that we had no accumulated earnings and profits as of December 31, 1995. The determination of accumulated earnings and profits, however, depends upon a number of factual matters related to our activities and operations during our entire corporate existence and is subject to review and challenge by the Internal Revenue Service. There can be no assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will not examine our tax returns for prior years and propose adjustments to increase our taxable income, and as a consequence, earnings and profits. In this regard, the Internal Revenue Service can consider all of our taxable years as open for review for purposes of determining the amount of such earnings and profits.

Tax Aspects Of Alexandria's Investments In Partnerships

A few of our investments are held through partnerships. In general, partnerships are "pass-through" entities that are not subject to federal income tax. Rather, partners are allocated their proportionate share of the items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit of a partnership and are potentially subject to tax thereon, without regard to whether the partners receive a distribution from the partnership. We will include our proportionate share of the foregoing partnership items for purposes of the various REIT gross income tests and in our computation of our REIT taxable income and the assets held by each partnership for purposes of the REIT asset tests.

Our interest in a partnership involves special tax considerations, including the possibility of a challenge by the Internal Revenue Service of the status of a partnership as a partnership, as opposed to an association taxable as a corporation, for federal income tax purposes. If a partnership were to be treated as such an association, the partnership would be taxable as a corporation and therefore subject to an entity-level tax on its income. In such a situation, the character of our assets and items of gross income would change, which may preclude us from satisfying the REIT asset tests and may preclude us from satisfying the REIT gross income tests. See "Failure to qualify" below, for a discussion of the effect of our failure to meet such tests. In addition, any change in the status of any partnership indirectly owned by us might be treated as a taxable event, in which case we may incur a tax liability without any related cash distributions.

Failure To Qualify

If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year and relief provisions do not apply, we will be subject to tax, including applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. Distributions to stockholders in any year in which we fail to qualify as a REIT will not be deductible by us, nor generally will they be required to be made under the Internal Revenue Code. In such event, to the extent of current and accumulated earnings and profits, all distributions to our stockholders will be taxable as ordinary income and, subject to limitations in the Internal Revenue

Code, corporate distributees may be eligible for the dividends-received deduction. Unless entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we also will be disqualified from re-electing taxation as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost.

#### **Taxation Of Our Stockholders**

Taxation Of Taxable Domestic Stockholders

As long as we qualify as a REIT, distributions made to our taxable domestic stockholders out of current or accumulated earnings and profits, and not designated as capital gain dividends, will be taken into account by them as ordinary income and will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction for corporations. Distributions that are designated as capital gain dividends and retained net capital gain will be taxed as long-term capital gains, to the extent they do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year, without regard to the period for which the stockholder has held its shares. However, corporate stockholders may be required to treat up to 20% of certain capital gain dividends as ordinary income. In addition, net capital gains attributable to the sale of depreciable real property held for more than 12 months are subject to a 25% maximum Federal income tax rate to the extent of previously claimed real property depreciation. To the extent that we make distributions in excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits, these distributions are treated first as a return of capital to the stockholder, reducing the tax basis of a stockholder's shares by the amount of such distribution, but not below zero, with distributions in excess of the stockholder's tax basis being taxable as capital gains, if the shares are held as a capital asset. In addition, any dividend declared by us in October, November or December of any year and payable to a stockholder of record on a specific date in any such month must be treated as both paid by us and received by the stockholder on December 31 of such year, provided that the dividend is actually paid by us during January of the following calendar year. Stockholders may not include in their individual income tax returns any of our net operating losses or capital losses. Federal income tax rules may also require that minimum tax adjustments and preferences be apportioned to our stockholders.

In general, any loss upon a sale or exchange of shares by a stockholder who has held such shares for six months or less, after applying holding period rules, will be treated as a long-term capital loss, to the extent of distributions from us required to be treated by such stockholder as long-term capital gains.

Gain from the sale or exchange of shares held for more than one year is taxed at a maximum capital gain rate of 20% for individuals. Pursuant to Internal Revenue Service guidance, we may classify portions of our capital gain dividends as gains eligible for the 20% capital gains rate or as unrecaptured Internal Revenue Code Section 1250 gain taxable at a maximum rate of 25%.

If we elect to retain capital gains rather than distribute them, a U.S. stockholder will be deemed to receive a capital gain dividend equal to the amount of such retained capital gains. Such gains are subject to apportionment among the two rate groups set forth above. In such a case, a stockholder will receive certain tax credits and basis adjustments reflecting the deemed distribution and deemed payment of taxes by the stockholder.

Our stockholders should consult their tax advisors with respect to taxation of capital gains and capital gain dividends and with regard to state, local and foreign taxes on capital gains and other income.

Backup Withholding

We will report to our domestic stockholders and to the Internal Revenue Service the amount of distributions paid during each calendar year, and the amount of tax withheld, if any, with respect to the paid distributions. Under the backup withholding rules, a stockholder may be subject to backup

withholding at applicable rates with respect to distributions paid unless the stockholder is a corporation or comes within other exempt categories and, when required, demonstrates this fact or provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies as to no loss of exemption from backup withholding, and otherwise complies with applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. A stockholder that does not provide us with his correct taxpayer identification number may also be subject to penalties imposed by the Internal Revenue Service. Any amount paid as backup withholding will be credited against the stockholder's income tax liability. In addition, we may be required to withhold a portion of capital gain distributions made to any stockholders who fail to certify their non-foreign status to us.

Currently, the back-up withholding rate is 30%. The rate will decline to 29% for taxable years 2004 and 2005 and to 28% for taxable years 2006 and thereafter.

#### Taxation Of Tax-Exempt Stockholders

The Internal Revenue Service has issued a revenue ruling in which it held that amounts distributed by a REIT to a tax-exempt employees' pension trust do not constitute unrelated business taxable income. Subject to the discussion below regarding a "pension-held REIT", based upon the ruling, the analysis in the ruling and the statutory framework of the Internal Revenue Code, distributions by us to a stockholder that is a tax-exempt entity should also not constitute unrelated business taxable income, provided that the tax-exempt entity has not financed the acquisition of its shares with "acquisition indebtedness" (within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code), and that the shares are not otherwise used in an unrelated trade or business of the tax-exempt entity, and consistent with our present intent, that we do not hold a residual interest in a real estate mortgage investment conduit.

However, if any pension or other retirement trust that qualifies under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code holds more than 10% by value of the interests in a "pension-held REIT" at any time during a taxable year, a portion of the dividends paid to the qualified pension trust by such REIT may constitute unrelated business taxable income. For these purposes, a "pension-held REIT" is defined as a REIT that would not have qualified as a REIT but for the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code which look through such a qualified pension trust in determining ownership of stock of the REIT and at least one qualified pension trust holds more than 25% by value of the interests of such REIT or one or more qualified pension trusts, each owning more than a 10% interest by value in the REIT, hold in the aggregate more than 50% by value of the interests in such REIT. We do not believe that we are and we do not expect to become a pension-held REIT.

#### Taxation Of Foreign Stockholders

We will qualify as a "domestically controlled REIT" so long as less than 50% in value of our shares are held by foreign persons, for example, nonresident aliens and foreign corporations, partnerships, trusts and estates. It is currently anticipated that we will qualify as a domestically controlled REIT. Under these circumstances, gain from the sale of the shares by a foreign person in a taxable year should not be subject to U.S. taxation, unless such gain is effectively connected with such person's U.S. business or, in the case of an individual foreign person, such person is present within the U.S. for more than 182 days in such taxable year.

Distributions of cash generated by our real estate operations, but not by our sale or exchange of our properties, that are paid to foreign persons generally will be subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 30%, unless an applicable tax treaty reduces that tax and the foreign stockholder files the required form with us evidencing such lower rate or unless the foreign stockholder files an Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI with us claiming that the distribution is "effectively connected" income. Under applicable Treasury regulations, foreign stockholders generally have to provide the Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI beginning January 1, 2000 and every three years thereafter unless the information on the form changes before that date.

Distributions of proceeds attributable to the sale or exchange by us of U.S. real property interests are subject to income and withholding taxes pursuant to the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, and may be subject to branch profits tax in the hands of a stockholder which is a foreign corporation if it is not entitled to treaty relief or exemption. We are required by applicable Treasury regulations to withhold 35% of any distribution to a foreign person that could be designated by us as a capital gain dividend; this amount is creditable against the foreign stockholder's Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act tax liability.

The federal income taxation of foreign persons is a highly complex matter that may be affected by many other considerations. Accordingly, any foreign investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding the income and withholding tax considerations with respect to their investment in us.

#### **Other Tax Considerations**

#### Investments In Taxable REIT Subsidiaries

Taxable REIT subsidiaries are subject to full corporate level taxation on their earnings, but are permitted to engage in certain types of activities which cannot be performed directly by REITs without jeopardizing their REIT status. Taxable REIT subsidiaries are subject to limitations on the deductibility of payments made to the associated REIT which could materially increase the taxable income of the taxable REIT subsidiary and are subject to prohibited transaction taxes on certain other payments made to the associated REIT.

Under the taxable REIT subsidiary provision, we and any taxable entity in which we own an interest are allowed to jointly elect to treat such entity as a "taxable REIT subsidiary". As stated above, no taxable REIT subsidiary election has been made by us. However, one or more taxable REIT subsidiary elections may be made in the future depending upon the circumstances for entities in which we own an interest.

#### Possible Legislative Or Other Actions Affecting Tax Consequences

Prospective stockholders should recognize that the present federal income tax treatment of an investment in us may be modified by legislative, judicial or administrative action at any time and that any such action may affect investments and commitments previously made. The rules dealing with federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue Service and the Treasury, resulting in revisions of regulations and revised interpretations of established concepts as well as statutory changes. Revisions in federal tax laws and interpretations of these laws could adversely affect the tax consequences of an investment in us.

## State And Local Taxes

We and our stockholders may be subject to state or local taxation in various jurisdictions, including those in which we or they transact business or reside. The state and local tax treatment of us and our stockholders may not conform to the federal income tax consequences discussed above. Consequently, prospective stockholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the effects of state and local tax laws on an investment in the offered securities of us.

#### PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the Securities to one or more underwriters for public offering and sale by them or to investors directly or through agents, which agents may be affiliated with us. Underwriters or agents involved in the offer and sale of the Securities will be named in the applicable Prospectus Supplement.

Sales of Securities offered pursuant to any applicable Prospectus Supplement may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions at a fixed price or at prices that may be changed, at prices related to the prevailing market prices at the time of sale, or at negotiated prices. We also may, from time to time, authorize underwriters acting as our agents to offer and sell the Securities upon terms and conditions set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. In connection with the sale of Securities, underwriters may be deemed to have received compensation from us in the form of underwriting discounts or commissions and may also receive commissions from purchasers of Securities for whom they may act as agent. Underwriters may sell Securities to or through dealers, and such dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the underwriters and/or commissions from the purchasers for whom they may act as agent.

Any underwriting compensation paid by us to underwriters or agents in connection with the offering of Securities, and any discounts, concessions or commissions initially allowed by underwriters to participating dealers, will be set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. Any such initial compensation, discounts, concessions or commissions may subsequently be changed as provided in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. Dealers and agents participating in the distribution of the Securities may be deemed to be underwriters, and any discounts and commissions received by them and any profit realized by them on resale of the Securities may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. Underwriters, dealers and agents may be entitled, under agreements entered into with us, to indemnification against and contribution toward certain civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act. Any such indemnification agreements will be described in the applicable Prospectus Supplement.

Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, each series of Securities, other than the Common Stock which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, will be a new issue with no established trading market. We may elect to list any series of Preferred Stock and any Depository Shares or Warrants on a securities exchange, but are not obligated to do so. It is possible that one or more underwriters may make a market in a series of Securities, but will not be obligated to do so and may discontinue any market making at any time without notice. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of the trading market for any of the Securities.

If so indicated in the applicable Prospectus Supplement, we may authorize dealers acting as our agents to solicit offers by certain institutions to purchase Securities from us at the public offering price set forth in such Prospectus Supplement pursuant to delayed delivery contracts ("Contracts") providing for payment and delivery on the date or dates stated in such Prospectus Supplement. Each Contract will be for an amount not less than, and the aggregate principal amount of Securities sold pursuant to Contracts shall be not less nor more than, the respective amounts stated in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. Institutions with whom Contracts, when authorized, may be made include commercial and savings banks, insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies, educational and charitable institutions, and other institutions but will in all cases be subject to our approval. Contracts will not be subject to any conditions except that (i) the purchase by an institution of the Securities covered by its Contracts shall not at the time of delivery be prohibited under the laws of any jurisdiction in the United States to which such institution is subject, and (ii) if the Securities are being sold to underwriters, we shall have sold to such underwriters the total amount of the Securities less the amount thereof covered by the Contracts.

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates may be customers of, engage in transactions with or perform services for, us in the ordinary course of business.

#### LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for us by Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw, Los Angeles, California. The validity of the Securities will be passed on for us by Ballard Spahr Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP, Baltimore, Maryland.

# **EXPERTS**

Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, have audited our consolidated financial statements and schedule included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and the statement of revenues and certain expenses of 9880 Campus Point Drive for the year ended December 31, 2000 included in our Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 2, 2002, as set forth in their reports, which are incorporated by reference in this prospectus and elsewhere in the registration statement. Our financial statements and schedule are incorporated by reference in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP's reports, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

# 5,000,000 Shares

# Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc.

8.375% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT June 18, 2004

Citigroup
UBS Investment Bank
A.G. Edwards
Advest, Inc.
Crowell, Weedon & Co.
WR Hambrecht + Co

### QuickLinks

**TABLE OF CONTENTS** 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc.

Recent Developments

Our Series C Preferred Stock Offering

ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES, INC.

**PROPERTIES** 

**USE OF PROCEEDS** 

**CAPITALIZATION** 

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

RATIOS OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

**DESCRIPTION OF SERIES C PREFERRED STOCK** 

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

**UNDERWRITING** 

**LEGAL MATTERS** 

**EXPERTS** 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

**INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE** 

**THE COMPANY** 

RISK FACTORS

**USE OF PROCEEDS** 

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

**DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK** 

**WARRANTS** 

PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF OUR CHARTER AND BYLAWS

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

**LEGAL MATTERS** 

**EXPERTS**